
Petitions Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

3 June 2014  

 

Meeting time: 

09.00 

 

For further information please contact:  

Steve George 

Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8421 

Petition@wales.gov.uk  

Kayleigh Driscoll  

Deputy Committee Clerk 

029 2089 8421 

Petition@wales.gov.uk  

 

 

Agenda 

 

 

1    Introduction, apologies and substitutions (9.00)  

2    New petitions (9.00 - 9.10)  

2.1  

  

P-04-557 Valuation Tribunal Service  (Page 1) 

3    Updates to previous petitions (9.10 - 11.00)  

3.1  

  

P-04-526 Please make Senedd TV accessible to deaf people  (Pages 2 - 5) 

Economy, Science and Transport 

3.2  

  

P-04-319 Newtown traffic petition  (Pages 6 - 7) 

3.3  

  

P-03-315 New Dyfi River Crossing Petition  (Pages 8 - 12) 

Housing and Regeneration 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



3.4  

  

P-04-487 A Welsh Government deposit loan scheme for first time Welsh home 

buyers  (Pages 13 - 19) 

3.5  

  

P-04-536 Stop Factory Dairy Farming in Wales  (Pages 20 - 22) 

Culture and Sport 

3.6  

  

P-04-447 Campaign for Statue of Henry VII in Pembroke  (Pages 23 - 27) 

3.7  

  

P-04-539 Save Cardiff Coal Exchange  (Pages 28 - 68) 

Finance 

3.8  

  

P-04-436 Government Expenditure and Revenue Wales  (Pages 69 - 72) 

Education 

The following two items will be considered together 

3.9  

  

P-04-437 Opposing compulsory registration for home educating children  

(Page 73) 

3.10  

  

P-04-517 Stop the Welsh Assembly Government from bringing in the 

monitoring of electively home educated children under the guise  (Pages 74 - 

76) 

Health 

3.11  

  

P-04-448 Improve Sexual health services for Western Vale  (Pages 77 - 78) 

3.12  

  

P-04-449 Bridgend Princess Of Wales - Save Our Services - Stop the 

Downgrade!  (Pages 79 - 80) 

3.13  

  

P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you  (Pages 81 - 90) 

3.14  

  

P-04-502 Wellbeing Centre for Wales  (Pages 91 - 96) 

3.15  

  

P-04-530 Bilingual Labeling  (Pages 97 - 98) 

Natural Resources and Food 



3.16  

  

P-04-500 Call For Regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales  

(Pages 99 - 140) 
  



P-04-557 Valuation Tribunal Service 

Petition wording: 

 

We, the undersigned, call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge Welsh 

Government to undertake a full review of the procedures, management and 

administration of the Valuation Tribunal Service for Wales and to produce an 

effective, transparent and accountable service for the people of Wales. 

 

Petition raised by:  Mr David Grant 

 

Date Petition first considered by Committee: 3 June 2014 

 

Number of signatures: 8 online signatures and a paper petition gathered an 

additional 5 signatures.  

 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2.1



P-04-526 Please make Senedd TV accessible to deaf people 

Petition wording: 

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to provide subtitling and 

signed language access to televised debates and proceedings, to enable the 

300,000 with hearing loss and deafness in Wales to follow the democratic 

processes hearing people already enjoy. 

 

Petition raised by:  Mervyn James 

 

Date Petition first considered by Committee: 21 January 2014 

 

Number of signatures: 25 

 

 

Pack Page 2

Agenda Item 3.1



Pack Page 3



Pack Page 4



P-04-526 Please make Senedd TV accessible to deaf people – 

Correspondence from the Petitioner to the Committee, 28.05.14 

HI 

The recent response sent to me seems directed to someone else ?  My petition is 

not about BSL access to the Senned TV, I never asked for that, just captions 

preferably in English, because the deaf cultural community in wales cannot put up 

any statistic to show they follow welsh, when they say 'bi-lingual' they mean 

English-sign language, not, English-welsh.  I hope this clarifies the petition 

which  doesn't support signed access to the assembly.  I think the assembly is 

confusing deaf of the cultural variety and persuasion and sign-dependent, with the 

majority of deaf who do not.  There is no viable demand from 3-400,000 welsh with 

hearing loss, for signed access.  There is however an overwhelming need for 

captioned or subtitled access, especially at the Senedd and particularly, at the 

Cross-party Committee that is dedicated to our sectors, who so far haven't 

supported access to own proceedings for some reason, this is not a very democratic 

approach via the Assembly at all.  I Understand 'BBC' output the assembly suggests 

it has no voice or control over, even if I disagree with that.  We also are awaiting the 

Aseembly website response to reviewing how it lists the deaf and other people with 

hearing loss with more clarity, to drop the sensory loss blanket approach.   It is 

clear the petition committee itself is in some confusion if it is sending me info 

about BSL charities and deaf culture, in response to a subtitled English petition, that 

is a via different sector altogether..  I've not asked for BSL or a welsh access form. 

M James 

 

Pack Page 5



P-04-319 Newtown Traffic Petition 

Petition wording 

 

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government 

to: 

1. Install a roundabout at the Kerry road junction and, if flow improves, 

reinstate a permanent roundabout. 

2. Issue an early start date for construction of a Newtown Bypass and for 

works to be fast-tracked through to completion. 

 

Petition raised by: Paul Pavia 

Petition first considered by Committee: June 2011 

 

Number of signatures: 10 (an additional petition collected approximately 

5,000 signatures) 

 

 

 

Pack Page 6

Agenda Item 3.2



Edwina Hart MBE CStJ AC / AM
Gweinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth
Minister for Economy, Science and Transport

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd • Cardiff

CF99 1NA

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400

Correspondence.edwina.Hart@Wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper

Eich cyf/Your ref P-04-319
Ein cyf/Our ref EH/04323/13

Dear William,

Further to my letter to you of 6 January 2014 regarding traffic in Newtown, I am 
writing to provide you with an update. 

I have provided Powys County Council with funding to complete two minor 
improvements adjacent to the A483 in Newtown, with the aim of improving the 
traffic flow prior to the construction of the bypass.  

The improvement at the junction between Park Street and New Road has been 
completed, and the traffic signals at the Pool Road/Kerry Road junction have 
been upgraded to introduce a left turn filter exiting Cambrian Way.  However, 
the works to extend the length of the left turn lane on the approach to the 
junction have been delayed until Powys County Council have completed  the 
purchase of the land necessary to permit the works to be undertaken.

14 May 2014

William Powell AM
Chair 
Petitions Committee

committeebusiness@Wales.g
si.gov.uk

Pack Page 7



P-03-315 New Dyfi River Crossing  

Petition wording 

We, the undersigned, are in favour of and support, any proposition to create a new 

crossing of the Dyfi River (or the re-routing of the A487) linking South Meirionnydd 

with Powys, Dyfed and Ceredigion, to accommodate and suite the demands of 

modern day traffic and urge prioritisation of funding and action. We call on the 

National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to create this crossing as 

a matter of priority. 

Petition raised by: South Meirionnydd Older People’s Forum 

Petition first considered by Committee: February 2011 

Number of signatures: 3204 

 

Pack Page 8

Agenda Item 3.3



Edwina Hart MBE CStJ AC / AM 
Gweinidog yr Economi, Gwyddoniaeth a Thrafnidiaeth 
Minister for Economy, Science and Transport  
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

Correspondence.edwina.Hart@Wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

 
 

Eich cyf/Your ref P-03-315 
Ein cyf/Our ref EH/04319/13 
 
William Powell AM 
Chair  
Petitions Committee 
 
committeebusiness@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

  

 
 
 
 
Dear William 
 
In my letter of 6 January I committed to provide the Petitions Committee with 
quarterly progress updates regarding improvements at Dyfi Bridge. 
 
Please find enclosed an updated Appendix 1 showing progress on the 
improvement actions. 
 
I will write again with a further update at the end of June. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

     
 
 

 
31 March 2014 

Pack Page 9

mailto:committeebusiness@wales.gsi.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Dyfi Bridge Actions 

Short Term 

 Activity Progress Report Date 

Complete 

1 Inspect drainage on the A487 

in and around Machynlleth.  

Inspection completed and 

trunk road drainage was found 

to be relatively clean and fully 

operative 

December 

2013 

2 Availability of CCTV:  A fault causing the lack of 

cameras has been identified.  

Cameras now operational 

January 

2014 

3 The short term study will 

consider the anecdotal 

evidence that the River Dyfi 

used to be dredged and this 

might be an option for the 

future 

Investigations have found 

references to the dredging of 

small estuarine channels 

downstream of Dyfi bridge. 

Further investigations will 

continue.  

July 2014 

4 Steel barriers at Dyfi Bridge Historically during closures 

some road users have chosen 

to remove signing/coning and 

to cross the bridge at their 

own risk. Welsh Government 

provided a physical closure 

system to protect road users 

and workforce.  

December 

2013  

5 Strategic diversions and the 

use of Variable Message Sign 

(VMS) at Cross Foxes.  

Planning to install VMS in 

2014/15.  

Winter 2014 

6 Network Rail Bridge condition.  The bridge is owned and 

maintained by Network Rail.  

Officials confirm that they are 

unaware of any concerns 

pertaining to the trunk road. 

January 

2014  

7 Remove from the current 

scope the investigation into 

benefits of raising the existing 

road between the Eco Park 

This short term measure does 

not address the issue of the 

bridge.  See longer term 

options below. 

December 

2013 

Pack Page 10



 
 

and Dyfi Bridge. 

8 Temporary pump/storage 

drainage system for the low 

spot beneath the rail bridge. 

Work has been undertaken to 

assess the drainage in the 

area of the rail bridge and the 

outfalls. The results of those 

works will inform future pump / 

storage solution.   

Existing 

works 

complete.  

Complete 

options 

report by 

end of May 

2014 

Longer term 

9 New bridge option  Following a recent site visit 

and a review of previous 

options, funding will be 

provided to progress work to 

develop options for a new 

crossing upstream of the 

existing bridge. This will not 

include a bypass of 

Machynlleth.  

Upstream 

option to be 

investigated. 

10 Observations during flooding 

events. 

My officials will contact the 

Town Council to discuss their 

concerns and observations 

during flooding events 

 

Pack Page 11



 

 

P-03-315 New Dyfi River crossing - Correspondence from the 

petitioner to the Committee, 27.05.14 

 

South Meirionnydd Older People’s Forum  DYFI BRIDGE PETITION 

 

On behalf of our community, I would like you to take into consideration the 

difficulty that would arise, if the alleged planned route was adopted. 

 

We, who live in South Meirionnydd are dependent on health care provided by 

Bronglais Hospital in Aberystwyth and with the closure of the existing bridge, 

when flooded and damaged by large vehicles, we are forced to travel a 

further 12 mile trip via a small narrow road, which has very few passing 

places and is also subject to flooding. 

I understand that it is hoped to build the new bridge near to the new foot 

bridge which is acceptable but surely not to come out onto the Newtown 

road, sending the traffic back into Machynlleth causing one almighty 

bottleneck as the traffic hit’s the original route at the town clock, especially 

on market days.  Long lorries would face the difficulty as before, as they 

endeavour to turn left to Aberystwyth. 

With respect to the Machynlleth Community, they rarely experience difficulty 

travelling to Bronglais hospital for emergency care, so we in South 

Meirionnydd feel once again forgotten and not taken into consideration .   

Our lives are at risk. 

Unless further plans to bypass the town on an easterly route, rejoining the 

A487 south of the Plas/Leisure Centre, providing the fastest road to 

Bronglais Hospital, we in South Meirionnyded will always feel as we are being 

treated as second class citizens. 

Nevertheless we are delighted that the funding has been allocated and thank 

the Minister, Edwina Hart, for her positive input, bringing about this much 

needed road improvement for both lives and livelihoods. 

 

Gwen Stevens 

Chairman       

Pack Page 12



P-04-487 A Welsh Government deposit loan scheme for first time 

Welsh home buyers 

Petition wording: 

We call on the Welsh Assembly to urge the Welsh Government to offer an 

annual deposit loan scheme for first time Welsh house buyers and/or 

renters.  

 

It is proposed that Welsh mortgage companies would also need to take part 

in this scheme and agree to ask for no more than 5% of a deposit on any 

suitable property (as well as offer a low interest own what you pay for 

mortgage). This for example would all mean that up to 15,000 Welsh first 

time house buyers (first time buyers whose earnings are below a certain 

threshold and have lived or worked in Wales continuously for at least 10 

years, or have full time business links to Wales) could be helped annually 

with a deposit loan of around £7,500 each for an averaged priced house, 

with the loan back payments deferred for at least one year. Once sellers and 

buyers agree to the scheme, the property in question would keep its eligible 

occupancy clause, as happens with similar schemes in the Peak District and 

North York Moors National parks.  

 

Supporting information: 

Although the Welsh Government can’t interfere with private properties, 

owners including second homeowners could be encouraged to consider 

selling through the scheme if they decide to sell their property. First time 

renovators of derelict properties/farmhouses should also be eligible for the 

scheme. It’s proposed that Welsh estate agents and the house sellers would 

be paid a monthly fee (paid for by the interest on the deposit loans) for 

taking part in the voluntary scheme by agreeing to only advertise, sell or rent 

within Wales and to eligible Welsh citizens for the first 6 months of a 

property being put on the market - after which time it would be open to 

anyone.  

 

This scheme would help to give families and individuals a chance to live and 

work within their own areas and not be priced out of the market by 

Pack Page 13

Agenda Item 3.4



unreasonable average wage to property price ratios, whilst also ensuring 

more money stays within local economies, boosting a more sustainable and 

productive Welsh economy in general. 

 

Petition raised by:  Sovereign Wales 

 

Date petition first considered by Committee: 18 June 2013 

 

Number of signatures: 17 

Pack Page 14



Pack Page 15



P-04-487 A Welsh Government deposit loan scheme for first time Welsh 

home buyers – Correspondence from the Petitioner to the Committee, 

25.05.14. 

Annwyl Mr Sargeant, 

 

Thank you for your latest response to the Sovereign Wales petition asking for a 

deposit scheme for first time Welsh home buyers. With approximately 15,000 new 

home buyers in Wales annually according to a 2005 report, it is thought that around 

half of those would be likely to take advantage of the proposed deposit offer. This 

would mean that, annually as an example, 7,500 lower earners could receive a 5% 

deposit of £7,500 for a new home at an average home price of £150,000, 

amounting to a total annual loan fund figure of £56 million a year. In essence this 

would be a 'Finance Wales for houses' fund. However, interest rates could obviously 

be less business orientated than Finance Wales, with a small admin fee for the first 

couple of years before the gradual repayment process started with a proposed 

minimal interest that is just over the base rate. 

 

This annual capped fund by the Welsh Government could therefore be of enormous 

help to first time home buyers in Wales whose earnings are below a certain 

threshold, as long as they were properly means tested of course, and also fell 

within  the local residency test or worked / had a business within the area. Even a 

less ambitious fund of half this figure again at £28 million a year would provide a 

deposit for an impressive 3,750 lower income new home buyers a year. I can see no 

reason why renters needing deposits couldn't also be eligible for this scheme 

provided they are means and eligibility tested in the same way. 

 

The fund would therefore target those who need it the most; people who are 

working but need that first leg up the housing ladder. It would also help these 

citizens to not be priced out of their localities by disproportionate house prices and 

deposit demands. I believe such a scheme is especially necessary in many parts of 

Wales as the cost of a basic home and deposit is often above the means of many 

working people. House prices have rocketed whilst average wages in Wales remain 

relatively low. As mentioned, provided that the home buyers in question were 

properly means tested and the mortgage lenders agree to take part and accept the 

5% deposit as has happened elsewhere, there is no reason why the scheme would 

Pack Page 16



not be a success. There is also the possibility that the Welsh Government could deal 

directly with the mortgage lenders when administering the loan. 

 

Mr Sargeant mentions the risks of defaulting and repossession, and the Welsh 

Government being exposed to losses. However the Help to Buy Scheme that the 

Welsh Government is offering also has equivalent if not more risks involved and 

fails to address one of the main problems facing new home buyers on lower 

incomes - being able to afford the initial deposit for a home. Mr Sargeant also 

mentions the risks of defaulting involved when buyers have none of their 

own  monies invested in a property. This may or may not be the case but could be 

overcome by offering that the first time home buyer puts in between 1% - 1.5% 

towards the deposit - a far more achievable and realistic sum for low earners for 

homes up to the value of £150,000 in my view.  Any percentage sum considerably 

higher than this would defeat the object of the fund although it would also mean 

that the proposed Welsh Government fund could be reduced. 

 

The Welsh Government (through Help to Buy (Wales) Ltd) is offering a shared equity 

loan of up to 20% of the purchase price of a new home which will mean offering on 

average a £40,000 per home shared equity loan using tax payers money (on a 

£200,000 home) - £32,500 more risk by the Welsh Government per home buyer 

than what the Sovereign Wales deposit petition proposes. There is a potential for an 

even riskier £60,000 shared equity loan if a maximum full £300,000 loan is given 

under the Help to Buy Scheme. 

 

The dangers of the Help to Buy Schemes have been outlined at great lengths in the 

British press and elsewhere. One area of concern is that the potential of falling 

house prices and another housing bubble could mean Welsh citizens taking part in 

the Help to Buy Scheme could make a considerable loss on their homes. Another 

concern is that these schemes are essentially large scale guarantees using tax 

payers money. Many are also worried about the uncomfortable relationship between 

government and house builders who have less incentive to be competitive if 

effectively subsidised by government. 

 

I'm sure there are areas of this deposit fund proposition that could be bettered and 

improved and I also can't see a reason why in theory both these schemes couldn't 

work alongside and complement each other. But I believe that the deposit fund 

Pack Page 17



could answer a more immediate and bigger need in Wales, especially at this point in 

time. I'll try to sum up what I believe are the main advantages of the proposed First 

Time Home Buyer Deposit Scheme as opposed to a Help to Buy Scheme below: 

 

Proposed Deposit Fund for first time buyers advantages 

 

A deposit fund for first time home buyers will help people on to the housing ladder 

and to overcome the main first hurdle of finding a deposit.  

 

This deposit fund would only be on offer to first time buyers in Wales rather than 

first time buyers and movers as offered by the Help to Buy Scheme, therefore 

specifically helping those facing the initial biggest hurdle in buying a first home in 

Wales 

 

The proposed deposit scheme would cover homes valued up to around £150,000 

which is a more realistic price for those starting out on the property ladder in Wales 

at this point (as opposed to the Help to Buy Scheme which is for new-build homes 

worth up to £300,000 which, along with the necessary deposit, is out of reach for 

most buyers in Wales) 

 

The Welsh Government would not only be offering a deposit loan fund, they would 

also be investing in the future of sustainable local communities and economies by 

helping local first time buyers stay living and working in those communities. 

 

The deposit fund could apply to both existing homes and new development homes. 

 

Help to Buy Scheme disadvantages 

 

There are obvious dangers if a house slump occurs and the value of the house 

drops. Help to Buy is also stacked in favour of the better off who can afford a bigger 

deposit as there is a stipulation that a 5% deposit has to come from the buyer first. 

 

The Help to Buy Scheme is only valid for new build developments and only with 

house builders registered with the scheme. Existing homes and buildings are not 

covered. This also raises concerns about over familiarity and cosiness between the 

Government and the registered house builders which could lead to a lack of 

Pack Page 18



competitiveness in this area and a generally unhealthy situation. 

 

If dealing with the total £170 million available in the pot up to the year 2016 as set 

out by the Welsh Government, this Help to Buy scheme would only help a total of 

approximately 4250 buyers in Wales if using an average £40,000 shared equity loan 

per buyer. In contrast, an equivalent 15,000 first time home buyers in Wales could 

be helped in the same period via this proposed deposit fund. If the scheme carried 

on indefinitely, at least 7500 buyers could be helped annually in Wales. 

 

The Wales Help to Buy Scheme is available to those wishing to purchase new-build 

homes worth up to £300,000 which, along with the necessary deposit, is out of 

reach for most buyers in Wales.  

 

As mentioned, the Welsh Government (through Help to Buy (Wales) Ltd) is offering a 

shared equity loan of up to 20% of the purchase price of a new home which will 

mean offering on average a £40,000 per home shared equity loan using tax payers 

money - £32,500 more risk by the Welsh Government per home buyer than what 

the Sovereign Wales deposit petition proposes. The dangers of the Help to Buy 

Schemes have been outlined at great lengths in the British press and elsewhere. 

One area of concern is that the potential of falling house prices and another 

housing bubble could mean Welsh citizens taking part in the Help to Buy Scheme 

could make a considerable loss on their homes. Another concern is that these 

schemes are essentially large scale guarantees using tax payers money. Many are 

also worried about the uncomfortable relationship between government and house 

builders who have less incentive to be competitive if effectively subsidised by 

government. 

 

I appreciate everyone's time and diligence in considering these proposals once 

again and hope that the proposals and suggestions are found to be constructive 

and of interest in general, 

 

Sincerely, 

 

G.Meredith" 

 

Pack Page 19



P-04-536 Stop Factory Dairy Farming in Wales  

Petition wording: 

 

We call upon the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government 

to update Planning Policy Wales and other relevant planning documents such 

as Technical Advice Note 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities, to 

ensure that large scale indoor factory dairy farms are not created in the 

pursuit of short-term economic gain and to the possible detriment of many 

small-scale run farms. The recent approval of the farm in Welshpool, Powys 

cited paragraph 7.2.2 of Planning Policy Wales specifically in saying that it 

“…recognise(d) that there will be occasions when the economic benefits will 

outweigh social and environmental considerations.” and we believe this must 

be urgently reviewed since the possible creation of a small number of new 

jobs should not outweigh the long term economic benefits afforded by the 

plentiful, efficient and sustainable asset of grazing which many Welsh dairy 

farmers fully recognise.  

 

Large scale indoor factory dairy farms are designed to keep cows indoors 

rather than out on pasture, and have been shown to increase environmental 

damage, impoverish local communities, can severely compromise good 

animal welfare and become a financial drain on their surroundings. We 

believe that following the Welsh Government’s decision to approve the farm 

in Welshpool, a review of planning legislation is of critical importance to 

ensure Wales fulfils its aspiration to become a truly sustainable country. 

 

Petition raised by:  World Society for the Protection of Animals 

 

Date Petition first considered by Committee: 18 February 2014 

 

Number of signatures: 9246 

 

Pack Page 20

Agenda Item 3.5



 

Pack Page 21



Pack Page 21



Pack Page 22



P-04-447 : Campaign for Statue of Henry VII in Pembroke 

Petition wording:  

We call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to 

fund a statue of Henry VII in Pembroke, town of his birth and birthplace of 

the Tudor Dynasty. There is no statue or memorial in the town of this man. A 

statue could improve the economy of the town as a Tudor must-visit place. 

Petition raised by: Nathen Amin 

Date petition first considered by Committee:  15 January 2013 

Number of signatures: 144 

 

Pack Page 23

Agenda Item 3.6



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 24

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



P-04-539 Save Cardiff Coal Exchange  

Petition wording: 

 

This petition seeks a commitment from the Welsh Government to set up a 

public enquiry into the events surrounding the Coal Exchange and to support 

public opinion which seeks to protect and conserve the building. 

 

The Coal Exchange is one of Cardiff’s most important buildings and one of 

the finest buildings in Wales. It’s where the world’s first million pound deal 

was struck during the city’s industrial heyday (equivalent to over £100m 

today). Yet far from cherishing this building, Cardiff council proposes to 

demolish the main body of the building, keeping only the facades. 

 

If this happens, then the magnificent interior with its immense historical 

significance will be lost forever. This grade 2* listed building deserves 

better, and the views of the public need to be heard. 

 

The Council have been claiming for the past year that it is on the point of 

collapse. No works have been done, yet there is no apparent evidence that 

the building is about to collapse. It is questioned if Cardiff Council were able 

to use section 78 powers under the building act to progress their plans, and 

this needs to be investigated openly. 

 

So much of Cardiff Bay’s social and built heritage has already been 

destroyed; it seems inconceivable that more can be cast aside with cynical 

abandon. 

 

It’s unclear why the council refuses to see the value of restoring the Coal 

Exchange to protect this iconic building for the use and enjoyment of future 

generations. 

 

Pack Page 28

Agenda Item 3.7



The issues are of the highest level of public interest, and it is considered 

essential that an open public consultation occurs to review matters. 

 

Petition raised by:  Jon Avent 

 

Date Petition first considered by Committee: 11 March 2014 

 

Number of signatures: TBC 

 

Pack Page 29



Pack Page 30



Pack Page 31



Pack Page 32



Pack Page 33



Pack Page 34



Pack Page 35



Pack Page 36



Pack Page 37



Pack Page 38



Pack Page 39



Pack Page 40



Pack Page 41



Pack Page 42



Pack Page 43



Pack Page 44



Pack Page 45



Pack Page 46



Pack Page 47



Pack Page 48



Pack Page 49



Pack Page 50



Pack Page 51



Pack Page 52



Pack Page 53



Pack Page 54



Pack Page 55



Pack Page 56



Pack Page 57



Pack Page 58



Pack Page 59



Pack Page 60



Pack Page 61



Pack Page 62



Pack Page 63



Pack Page 64



Pack Page 65



Pack Page 66



Pack Page 67



Pack Page 68



P-04-436 : Government Expenditure and Revenue Wales 

Petition wording:  

We call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to 

put together a Government Expenditure and Revenue Wales report.  

In Scotland they have the GERS report, it aims to enhance public 

understanding of fiscal issues through detailed analysis of official UK and 

Scottish Government financial statistics.It’s time that the Welsh Government 

published a similar report so that we can truly see the fiscal position of 

Wales. 

Petition raised by:  Stuart Evans 

Date petition first considered by Committee:  15 January 2013 

Number of signatures:  27 

 

Pack Page 69

Agenda Item 3.8



Pack Page 70



Pack Page 71



P-04-436 Government Expenditure and Revenue Wales report - 

Correspondence from the Petitioner to the Clerking Team, 22.05.14 

All this shows is tax receipts. It does not show the revenue generated in Wales that 

is credited to England via a company having its head quarters in England. 

It does not put a value on any of the natural resources we have stolen from Wales 

with no benefit to our people and it doesn't factor in goods from Wales exported 

from English ports. Or any of the other myriad of ways of 'cooking the books'. 

All I am asking is for the Finance Minister to actually produce a detailed report, like 

they do in Scotland with their GERS report. That way we can see how well or how 

badly Wales is being run by the Welsh Government and the British Government. 

Thank you 

Stuart Evans 

 

Pack Page 72



P-04-437 : Opposing compulsory registration for home 

educating children 

Petition wording:  

We call upon the Welsh Assembly for Wales to abandon plans for a 

compulsory register for home educated children as part of the draft 

Education (Wales) Bill.  The law states that parents, not the state, are 

responsible for the education of their children, which makes such a register 

both inappropriate and unnecessary. 

Petition raised by:  Wendy Charles-Warner 

Date petition first considered by Committee:  20 November 2012 

Number of signatures:  1614 

 

Pack Page 73

Agenda Item 3.9



P-04-517 Stop the Welsh Assembly Government from bringing in 

the monitoring of electively home educated children under the 

guise of safeguarding 

Petition wording: 

Serious case reviews have shown that the authorities not elective home 

education have let children down. The government signed up to the rights of 

the child in 2004 which states that they will consult with children before 

changing things that effect them. They are not consulting our children who 

have already shown last year that they are against monitoring in a different 

consultation. We, therefore, call upon the National Assembly for Wales to 

urge the Welsh Government to stop bringing in the monitoring of electively 

home educated children under the guise of safeguarding. 

 

Petition raised by: New Foundation Home Education 

 

Date petition first considered by Committee: 26 November 2013 

 

Number of signatures: 864 

 

 

Pack Page 74

Agenda Item 3.10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WRITTEN STATEMENT  

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 
 

 

TITLE  

Elective Home Education – Analysis of responses to the Welsh 
Government consultation on proposals to introduce a 
compulsory registration and monitoring scheme for those who 
elect to educate their children at home 

DATE  6 May 2014 

BY  Huw Lewis, Minister for Education and Skills 

 
On 21 December 2012 my predecessor announced in a written statement that, following the 
Welsh Government’s consultation on legislative proposals to introduce a compulsory 
registration and monitoring scheme for those who elect to educate their children at home, 
the Welsh Government would not legislate as part of the Education (Wales) Bill. In his 
statement he undertook to provide an update in due course. I am now updating you on the 
outcome of the consultation and my intentions going forward.  
 
The consultation revealed a clear divide in opinion. The majority of home educating parents, 
home educated children and young people and organisations representing home educating 
families were strongly opposed to the introduction of any form of legislation. However, the 
majority of local authorities (LAs) and organisations with responsibility for children were of 
the opinion that legislation was absolutely necessary to ensure home-educated children 
were receiving a suitable education.   
 
Having carefully considered the consultation responses from all stakeholders I have decided 
not to legislate for a compulsory registration and monitoring scheme during the current 
Assembly term. I have however, asked my officials to develop non-statutory guidance on 
home education by May 2015 to assist LAs with supporting their home-educating families, 
and to help create a more consistent approach to how LAs engage with their home-
educating communities. The guidance will be developed in consultation with LAs and the 
elective home-educating community to provide an opportunity for them to work together to 
build consensus and trust. The guidance will assist LAs to develop a level of knowledge and 
expertise on home education, which was highlighted as an area for further development 
during the consultation.    
 
The consultation highlighted that there is good practice and good engagement by some LAs 
with the home-educating community. We will draw upon this existing good practice in 
developing the guidance.    
 

Pack Page 75

http://wales.gov.uk/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2012/electivehomeeducation/?lang=en


Developing non-statutory guidance will enable us to try out and evaluate different 
approaches to achieve the best learning outcomes for home-educated learners.   
 
Today I have published an analysis of the consultation responses and this can be found on 
the Welsh Government website at:  
 
http://wales.gov.uk/consultations/education/registeringandmonitoring/?lang=en  
 

Pack Page 76

http://wales.gov.uk/consultations/education/registeringandmonitoring/?lang=en


P-04-448 : Improve Sexual health services for Western Vale 

Petition wording:  

We call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to 

increase funding to the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. This 

increased funding should be directed towards improving sexual health 

services for the Western Vale. 

 

Additional Information: 

 

Currently only one clinic is held once a week every Friday lunchtime in 

Llantwit Major. This clinic serves the whole of the Western Vale. This clinic 

gives sexual health advice and family planning services. This service is not 

adequate to meet the needs of this large geographical area. The town of 

Barry alone has 3 clinics/week.Help us to improve the sexual health of many 

young and vulnerable people who are often unable to travel 10 miles or 

further to a local clinic. These clinics offer the vital 

information/education/support/medical treatment that young people need. 

improving sexual health services can help guide, support and care for the 

most vulnerable groups within our society. Please help us make a difference.  

Although teenage pregnancy rates are declining, abortion rates are rising (as 

cited by Helen Rogers Director of the Royal college of midwives, source BBC 

Wales 29/03/12) WAG in response to this report promised increased funding 

via public health wales to improve access to integrated sexual health centres 

(BBC Wales 29/03/12) These vulnerable young people often from households 

which are deprived, do not receive the care they need. Had these young 

people lived in Barry, they would have received a much improved service. 

The rural vale is often dismissed as being "affluent" real pockets of socio-

economic deprivation exist within this area. More clinics are needed. Wales 

wants a "World Class Health Service" built for the future. These young people 

are our future. Teenage pregnancy/abortion can have wide reaching 

detrimental effects on our young people. Sexually transmitted diseases are 

preventable if people get the right information. 

 

Petition raised by: Rebecca Lowrie 

Pack Page 77

Agenda Item 3.11



Date petition first considered by Committee:  29 January 2013 

Number of signatures: 16 

 

Pack Page 78



P-04-449 : Bridgend Princess Of Wales - Save Our Services - Stop 

the Downgrade! 

Petition wording:  

On Wednesday 26th September 2012, Abertawe Bro Morgannwg Health 

Board announced changes that could radically affect the way our hospital 

services are delivered in Bridgend. Although nothing has been set in stone, it 

is probable that, if implemented, this will result in the loss of some 

paediatric, obstetric, neonatal, and accident and emergency care. Put simply, 

if you require intensive care, have a very sick child or are likely to have a 

pregnancy that is not straight forward you will have to travel to Cardiff, 

Swansea, and one of the other Specialist Service Sites in South Wales. 

Bridgend’s population is ever increasing; as such we need more, not less 

local services. We the strongly condemn the move by Abertawe Bro 

Morgannwg Health Board, and demand that the Welsh Assembly Government 

spends more of its funding keeping these essential local services rather than 

putting the most at risk patients’ lives in danger. We the undersigned call on 

the National Assembly for Wales to urge the Welsh Government to protect 

services in Bridgend, Princess of Wales Hospital, and ensure that the hospital 

retains all of these essential services without a downgrading. 

 

Petition raised by: Ian Matthew Spiller 

Date petition first considered by Committee:  29 January 2013 

Number of signatures: 4,218. An associated petition collected 154 

signatures.  

 

Pack Page 79

Agenda Item 3.12



P-04-449 Bridgend Princess Of Wales - Save Our Services - Stop the 

Downgrade! – Correspondence from the petitioner to the Committee, 

20.05.14.  

 

Hello Kayleigh 

 

Many thanks for your response. 

 

Thankfully the South Wales Plan included Princess of Wales Hospital as one of the 

centres for A&E and services that were under threat. 

 

Unless things change, there is no need for this petition to be heard at this time as it 

is no longer relevant. 

 

Best regards 

 

Ian spiller 

 

 

Pack Page 80



P-04-456 Dementia – This Could Happen to you 

 

Petition wording: 

We, the undersigned, call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the 

Welsh Government to:  

i. Bring to an end the discrimination against dementia sufferers in Wales who 

apply for N.H.S. Continuing Care Funding, by allowing for the cognition 

category of need (known as the ‘ domain’ ) to go up to the level ’ Severe’  in 

the Welsh version of the Decision Support Tool. This would bring it in line 

with the English version; and 

ii. Direct Local Health Boards to implement the National Framework for 

N.H.S., Continuing Care Funding correctly in terms of patient eligibility and 

without regard to budgetary constraints.’  

 

Petition raised by: Helen Jones 

Date petition first considered by Committee: 19 February 2013 

Number of signatures:  1413  

 

Pack Page 81

Agenda Item 3.13



P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you – Correspondence from the 

Petitioner to the Committee, 12.05.14 

Hi Kayleigh, 

The meeting with Lynda Chandler was as I thought it would be, a waste of her 

valuable time and a patronizing waste of my time.  Lynda Chandler is a very 

pleasant woman who was just doing her job but nothing was achieved and I felt that 

she was there simply because the health department had to be seen to be doing the 

right thing following having ignored the fact that they had written to the petitions 

committee inviting me as petitioner to become a stakeholder and not bothering to 

follow through. I came away feeling warmly encouraged and praised which 

presumably was the object of the exercise.  Sorry if that sounds cynical. 

If the Welsh Assembly Government Health Department and their special advisers 

don't listen to Professors of Law and Dementia Experts who have been battling away 

for years in an attempt to address the multitude of unjust ineligibility decisions that 

have been wrongly made by abuses to the National Framework and the incorrect 

withholding of Continuing Healthcare Funding, then what hope have I as a mere 

member of the public. 

I will say this though, as long as there is breath in my body I will continue to stick 

pins in those who blatantly and pompously bend the rules for financial reasons.    

As I see it the only good thing to come out of the hour or so I spent with Mrs. 

Chandler was the suggestion about forming a Dementia Task Force, but I would 

suggest that it should be made up of people who have been in the unfortunate 

position of being badly treated by the system as it stands, and not NHS cronies, so 

that in addition to the charities who support people who find themselves in a 

position of coming up against (.....and I use this term from experience) the hugely 

complex system as it stands, there is another option, that of choosing to be 

supported by those who managed to get a handle on the National Framework and 

jargonlike  terminology like Multi Disciplinary Team Assessments and Decision 

Support Tools (the tick box administration).  Often this data is not properly 

understood or correctly implemented/completed by the very people who are using 

them on a day to day basis, which is really scary, and of course there are those who 

are advised how to complete forms in a way that will ensure their continued 

employment, and YES I did say that! 

Pack Page 82



 

Kind regards, 

 

Helen 

Pack Page 83



P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you – Correspondence from the 

Petitioner to the Committee, 20.05.14 

Hi Kayleigh, 

Thanks for your email. 

The relevance of the documentation I've sent on to you surrounding my petition, 

and of course the time factors involved in dealing with each individual petition data 

suggests to me that wading through all of the emails I have sent to you recently 

would be best left to you and your colleagues discretion as to what you feel are the 

prurient points to bring to the attention of the committee. 

The real question is, do the politicians want to tackle the problem of the lack of 

consistency and Health Boards in Wales evading the decisions of the Courts in 

Coughlan, Pointon etc., by the use of Guidance that is difficult to challenge by way 

of judicial review in the Courts.  Without the political will to tackle the problem the 

Health Boards the CCGs can continue to ration Continuing Health Care funding by 

stealth.  Possibly with an ageing population and an increasing, press led and social 

media awareness of dementia, the electorate will start taking a great deal more 

interest in this rather obscure and complex area of health care law.  Unfortunately 

in the meantime the culture which currently allows personnel to falsify records (see 

BBC NEWS bulletin from last week concerning the arrest of several nurses the the 

Bridgend area for this) will hardly be discouraged from manipulating the Continuing 

Health Care assessment system if the goal of achieving costs savings can be 

achieved with no risk of sanctions and little prospect of the families challenging 

decisions which rely on the 'professional judgement' of Continuing Health Care 

assessors.  From my experience the manager of the local Spar would have been 

better placed to judge my Mother's eligibility.  

Ideally I would like the petitions committee to see all of the emails. I do not want 

this issue to get kicked into the long grass.  I, as well as others are  unimpressed 

with what has been the changing of a few words to satisfy what they see as the 

dissatisfied aggressor.  I recognize that some positive  changes have been made 

and I hope that some of them are because of my petition. The health department 

appear to agree that the 'cognition' domain should not have had the 'severe' tick 

box removed which was instigated by Lesley Griffiths the former Health secretary, 

after public consultation. This does bring it back in line with the English version of 

Pack Page 84



the Decision Support Tool, on the one category. This does not mean that they have 

made it any easier for anyone to be considered eligible for this funding, in fact they 

have further messed with the decision support tool so that other areas have been 

negatively impacted upon! Rather than a meaningless consultative process 

whereupon the charitable organizations etc., who were consulted were listened to, 

perhaps these opinions should not have been just considered and then largely 

ignored, but acted upon honestly and with integrity? 

Thanks Kayleigh and 

Kind regards, 

Helen   

Pack Page 85



P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you – Email exchange between 

Tony Alexander, Member of the Alzheimer's Society's Volunteer CHC Support 

Group  and Lynda Chandler, Welsh Government Official, 09.05.14 

Dear Lynda 

 

My sincere apologies for being unable to attend the meeting on Friday with Helen. I 

have volunteered as an “engineer” with REMAP which carries out bespoke alterations 

for appliances for handicapped people. I have an appointment at the home a 

handicapped lady and the occupational therapist on Friday. 

I am a retired solicitor and a member of the Alzheimer's Society's Volunteer CHC 

Support Group which advises people who have been refused CHC. Only people who 

have successfully appealed a refusal are considered for the Group and in my case it 

was my father in law who had been refused and the decision reversed at the Local 

Appeal Panel.  

 

I have been a member of the Group for two years and dealt with about 94 cases of 

which only 4 or 5 have been Welsh. Those have been similar to the English cases in 

that:- 

 

(a) Assessments which the Framework require to be comprehensive, detailed 

and holistic are rarely, if ever, anything of the kind. Typically the assessments rely 

on Care Home notes (the majority of the cases have patients in care homes, unlike 

Helen's case) and those notes are at best superficial, as to be fair to the carers, they 

simply do not have the time to make detailed notes; frequently however, they are 

inaccurate and omit essential details as the carers are so used to such things as 

challenging behaviour so that unless it is exceptional, it is not mentioned. The 

extent to which the opinions of psychiatrists and GP s are sought or taken into 

account varies. Frequently it is a phone call and no written report is obtained. As far 

as I am aware (it was certainly the case in my father in law's case) the GP s know of 

the existence of a system for assessing for CHC but do not know the details.  

 

(b) Although the Framework requires the family to be fully informed of the 

process so that they can play a meaningful role in the assessment process, this has 

not happened in any of the cases that I have dealt with. Sometimes they are 

provided with an explanatory leaflet, but no one has been handed the Framework or 

the DST and had those documents explained to them. The whole process is 

exceedingly complicated and no leaflet could do it justice. The majority of the 

families that I speak to say that they are daunted by the system and do not 

understand how it is supposed to operate. 

Pack Page 86



 

(c) The assessors have a superficial knowledge of the Framework/DST, but are 

adept at interpreting the descriptors for the 12 domains in a prescriptive manner 

notwithstanding the guidance given in the Framework to the contrary. 

The Welsh Audit Office report on CHC published in June 2013 sets out the many 

shortcomings in its implementation. In my opinion it did not pay sufficient attention 

to the problem of quality control of decision making and ensuring uniformity. A 

number of respected commentators have criticised the system including Luke 

Clements (Professor of Law at Cardiff University), the Law Society, the RCN, and the 

Alzheimer's Society. I believe that the problem of uniformity/consistency of decision 

making is not being addressed and will not be resolved until there is publication of 

anonymised case studies. If the Welsh Government adopt the whole of the English 

Framework (2012 edition) this will further hamper any drive towards consistency. 

Para 90 of the 2012 English Framework with superb civil service double speak 

states :-  

 

“CCGs should be aware of cases that have indicated circumstances in which 

eligibility for NHS continuing healthcare should have been determined, and where 

such an outcome would be expected if the same facts were considered in an 

assessment for NHS continuing healthcare under the National Framework (e.g. 

Coughlan or those cases in the Health Service Ombudsman‟s report on NHS funding 

for the long-term care of older and disabled people). However, they should be wary 

of trying to draw generalisations about eligibility for NHS continuing healthcare 

from the limited information they may have about those cases. There is no 

substitute for a careful and detailed assessment of the needs of the individual 

whose eligibility is in question.”  

In other words CCGs can ignore Coughlan etc but at the same time should be aware 

of those decisions. Both the Westminster Government and the English Ombudsman 

found that using cases decided by the Ombudsman as comparators was useful. In 

1994, Virginia Bottomley, then Health Secretary, referred to the care needs of the 

patient involved in the Leeds case (Ombudsman Report Case No E.62/93-94, 

January 1994) as a benchmark for funding, and the Ombudsman also compared the 

care needs of Pamela Coughlan in the Wigan and Bolton Case (E420/00-01 2002-

03). However as can be seen from Para 90 of the English Framework, the Dof H are 

steering assessors away from using comparators.  

 

It is my submission that in the absence of case studies/comparators, it is 

impossible to tell if assessments across the Boards in Wales and CCGs in England 

are consistent, in fact I would argue that in the absence of case studies it would be 

miraculous if they were.  

 

Pack Page 87



I compare the situation to various legal principles. For example, the law of 

negligence. That has been developed over several centuries, but the modern law is 

based on the 1932 case of Donoghue v Stevenson which laid down four criteria 

which needed to be applied for a claimant to succeed. Those criteria have been 

analysed, dissected and subjected to minute scrutiny by the Courts ever since and 

everyone has access to those decisions to see how the criteria are applied in various 

circumstances and how the principles of the decision have been developed over the 

82 years since 1932. The availability of this body of case law means that as far as 

humanly possible a court in Newcastle faced with the same facts as a court with a 

case in Wrexham or Swansea will arrive at the same conclusion. However in the case 

of CHC no one knows if the assessments are consistent. The fact that the number of 

cases being awarded CHC is declining when the numbers diagnosed with dementia 

are increasing would suggest that if there is any consistency it is as a result of the 

bar being unlawfully raised as a means of cost saving. Furthermore, it is difficult to 

challenge decisions and have them tested forensically in Court because of the 

decision in the case of Provincial Pictue Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corporation, 

which means in practice that unless the decision to refuse CHC is 

perverse/manifestly wrong, then the Courts will not interfere with the decision.  

  

Once again my sincere apologies for not being able to attend the meeting. If you 

feel that it would be of any benefit to discuss the matter further, please let me 

know.  

  

Regards 

  

Tony Alexander 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Dear Tony 

 

Many thanks for taking the time to compile this e-mail. I‟m sorry that we didn‟t get 

to meet, but your comments are informative and helpful; I completely understand 

the need to prioritise your appointment. 

 

Many thanks to Helen also, for taking the time to meet with me this morning. It is 

impossible not to be deeply moved by your story and the experiences of others that 

you shared with me. 

  

I sincerely hope that the amendments to the Framework I described will go some 

way to improving the experience of carers in navigating the CHC process. As we 

Pack Page 88



discussed, and as Tony alludes to below, issuing guidance will only take us so far 

and Welsh Government is committed to working with the NHS to monitor 

compliance with the Framework going forward and to address the challenges. This 

is a longer-term improvement programme rather than a one-off event. 

  

Perhaps it would also be helpful to refer to the specific points you detail below. We 

have received similar representations from other parties and have sought to 

address them as follows: 

  

The revised Framework requires that a care co-ordinator is nominated and is 

responsible for ensuring that the assessment contains all the evidence needed for 

the MDT to make an informed and rational decision on CHC eligibility. When we 

publish the Framework at the end of June we will also provide an online Complex 

Care Information and Support Service, which will be publicly accessible. This will 

include templates for the submission of specialist clinical opinion. I must admit that 

we haven‟t as yet considered specific GP training, but I will take this suggestion 

back to our training group. 

 

We hope that the role of the Care Co-ordinator (which is explained in detail in the 

Framework) will improve the experience for families and carers. We have developed 

three information leaflets: „Public Information Leaflet on CHC‟, „Preparing you for a 

CHC Eligibility Meeting‟ and „What receiving CHC services means for you‟. These 

have been developed with help from the Older People‟s Commissioner and Age 

Cymru, and have been tested with over 50‟s forums – so hopefully will help a little. 

They inform carers about what information, support and written feedback they 

should expect. The leaflets, Framework and DST will be publicly available on our 

website and linked from others. We have also required that families/carers are 

routinely offered access to advocacy services.  

 

Helen and I discussed the cynicism with which some eligibility decisions appear to 

be made, and to which you allude in your e-mail. The revised Framework clearly 

separates the eligibility decision from financial considerations and stresses the 

importance of professional integrity and judgement (as opposed to rigidly „ticking 

the boxes‟) in the assessment process. This will be re-emphasised in the training 

programme. Monitoring will include peer review and annual audit. We do also need 

to consider how we can best capture the experiences of carers, such as those you 

and Helen have described. Your suggestions would be very welcome. 

 

Ensuring consistency of decision making is, as you rightly point out, an ongoing 

challenge. A number of mechanisms are proposed in the revised CHC Framework 

and in the Performance Management Framework. These include peer review and an 

Pack Page 89



annual audit of a sample of cases. The issue of using case studies continues to be 

debated. As you recognise, there is some sense of caution though we are working 

with the Ombudsman in the first instance, to hopefully develop a „Lessons Learnt‟ 

section in our online resource. 

  

Helen and I also discussed the importance of values-based training and earlier 

education e.g. in schools. The importance of wider publicity regarding CHC was 

acknowledged. Publicity regarding the cut-off date for retrospective claims has 

been distributed to voluntary sector organisations and GP surgeries etc; there is no 

reason why we can‟t repeat the exercise with the general Public Information leaflets. 

  

We are currently amending the draft Framework in response to the feedback 

received through the consultation exercise. This will then be submitted to the 

Minister with a briefing which will highlight any stakeholder views that remain 

unresolved. Whilst I believe we have addressed many of the concerns raised with 

regard to dementia, we will acknowledge that the issue of the potential removal of 

CHC eligibility as the disease progresses may not be resolved to everyone‟s 

satisfaction. We have however included some flexibility with regard to progressive 

disease where the assessors believe that the plateau may be short-term and/or 

require more frequent review.  

  

I will also raise Helen‟s suggestion of a Dementia Task Group to examine how we 

can set the standard for a straightforward system for people with dementia and 

CHC. 

  

I hope this response is helpful, though we do not underestimate the joint effort 

required to ensure that words and translated into action.  I hope that you will both 

feel able to come back to me with any feedback you may have, or if you would like 

an update, at any time. 

  

Kind regards 

  

Lynda 

  

Pack Page 90



P-04-502 Wellbeing Centre for Wales 

Petition wording: 

We the undersigned call on the Welsh Assembly to urge the Welsh 

Government to establish a new Wellbeing Centre for Wales that would put 

individual and community wellbeing(1) at the heart of Welsh politics, and 

that would be core-funded by government. 

 

Additional information: 

Although we recognize that the Welsh government has made considerable 

strides forward in terms of wellbeing policy, the latest statistics from the All-

Wales Mental Health Network show that poor mental health, for example, 

costs the Welsh economy £7.2bn a year(2)  and that the industrial areas of 

south east Wales have amongst the lowest subjective wellbeing scores in the 

UK(3) 

We believe that this situation needs a solution.  

A Wellbeing Centre for Wales would provide evidence-based policy solutions 

to the problem of wellbeing levels in Wales that are, on average, lower than 

the UK average. It would draw on the expertise of a wide range of cross-

sector partners; including those with policy-making expertise and a track 

record in effective political engagement; those with experience of delivering 

wellbeing initiatives at grassroots levels, such as representatives from the 

voluntary sector; those with a background in action research; as well as 

academics and academic networks.  

A Wellbeing Centre for Wales would draw inspiration from prestigious policy 

institutes like the Centre for Social Justice (CSJ). As with the CSJ’s Poverty 

Fighting Alliance, The Centre would also aim to build on the vibrant network 

of grassroots charities and voluntary organizations already established by 

Lles Cymru Wellbeing Wales, to create a dynamic Wellbeing Network that 

would serve not only to showcase models of best practice that would then 

Pack Page 91

Agenda Item 3.14



inform and shape policy solutions, but also act as a bridge between 

communities and government. 

The Wellbeing Centre for Wales could also provide a focus for a whole range 

of innovative wellbeing-promoting initiatives, such as working with the 

public and private sector to provide programmes of workplace training 

around wellbeing issues, including targeted workplace wellbeing training for 

those on low incomes; scaling up resources like the Sustainable Wellbeing 

Toolkit, which was developed by Lles Cymru Wellbeing Wales to help 

organizations implement and measure wellbeing programmes; mapping out 

community assets in Wales for the benefit of the public; or creating digital 

resources to increase public awareness around wellbeing issues, such as 

creating free electronic apps to measure individual wellbeing. The Centre 

would look for funding for its programme of projects and events from 

charitable trusts and foundations, as well as corporate sponsors, private 

individuals, and partnerships with the private sector.   

In short, we the undersigned believe that a concerted effort is now required 

by multiple agencies, all working together, to realize the wellbeing ambitions 

set out in the government’s legislative programme. A Wellbeing Centre for 

Wales would be a perfect vehicle to drive change.  

 [1] “Wellbeing is a positive physical, social and mental state; it is not just the 

absence of pain, discomfort and incapacity.  It arises not only from the 

action of individuals but from a host of collective goods and relationships 

with other people.  It requires that basic needs are met, that individuals have 

a sense of purpose, and that they feel able to achieve important goals and 

participate in society.  It is enhanced by conditions that include supportive 

personal relationships, involvement in empowered communities, good 

health, financial security, rewarding employment, and a healthy and 

attractive environment.  

From ‘Local Wellbeing: Can We Measure it?’ New Economics Foundation, 

September 2008 

Pack Page 92



 (2) Promoting mental health and preventing mental illness: the economic 

case for investment in Wales by Lynne Friedli and Michael Parsonage October 

2009. For more details visit: 

http://www.publicmentalhealth.org/news.cfm?orgid=749&contentid=15934  

 

[3]  http://www.wiserd.ac.uk/training-events/annual-

conference/programme/health-and-wellbeing/analysis-subjective-

wellbeing-wales-evidence-annual-populati/ 

 

Petition raised by: Wellbeing Wales 

 

Date petition first considered by Committee: 24 September 2013 

 

Number of signatures: 52 

 

Pack Page 93



Pack Page 94



P-04-502 Wellbeing Centre for Wales – Correspondence from the Petitioner 

to the Clerking Team, 08.05.14 

Dear Stephen 

I am writing in response to William Powell AM Chair of the Petitions Committee.  I 

have also had a copy of the letter from the Minister for Health and Social Services, 

Mark Drakeford AM to the Petitions Committee. 

Firstly I would like to thank the Chair and the Petitions Committee for considering 

the issues through the petitions process. 

In answer to the points made in the various items of correspondence, I would like to 

say that for the last 4 years I have been an active member of the Public Health Wales 

All Wales Mental Health Promotion Network Advisory Board and have worked with 

some very passionate and forward thinking individuals on delivering the Network's 

terms of reference – which I would suggest are tailored more towards mental health 

than wider, community wellbeing. 

I have also learned that this particular network will be merged with a number of 

other Public Health Wales Networks to form the All Wales Public Health Network in 

the very near future – which challenges the idea that the All Wales Mental Health 

Promotion Network's work will continue to unchanged on this agenda. 

It seems to me that there has been a considerable shift in Wales away from 

networks and nodes that identify good practice in project delivery; and provide the 

forums that develop policies that are 'fit for purpose.'  Organisations in Wales are 

having to focus their efforts on project delivery, because that is what their funding 

is telling them to do.  As organisations get more involved in delivery they become 

less skilled at evaluation; reflection and ironically learning how to deliver a better 

service. I am concerned that this will result in unnecessary duplication of effort; the 

waste of limited financial resources and ultimately services that don't deliver what 

their users need.   

That said, I totally understand and support the Welsh Government's desire to 

champion delivery and change on the ground, but I do feel there is a role for 

evaluation, reflection and challenge.  And I believe a Wellbeing Centre for Wales 

could help do that. 

Pack Page 95



If as the Chair, you feel that the Petitions Committee would benefit from a 

discussion about wellbeing and what it means for  the National Assembly's 

activities, I would be more than happy to present to the Committee.   I have recently 

finished wellbeing evaluation's for the Arts Council in Wales; World Wide Fund for 

Nature in Namibia; the HR department in Cardiff City Council and Port Talbot Young 

People's Services – where wellbeing is the common theme that unites them all. 

Thank you again for your time and consideration on the issue of a Wellbeing Centre 

for Wales. If I can help at all, please by all means let me know. 

Kind regards 

Dafydd Thomas 

Cyfarwyddwr Gweithredol – Executive Director Lles Cymru Wellbeing Wales 

 

Pack Page 96



P-04-530 Bilingual Labeling 

Petition wording: 

Like all self-respecting officially bilingual countries, (such as Canada), Wales 

needs legislation to ensure that all food products sold in Wales be labeled in 

both Welsh and English. We therefore demand that the National Assembly for 

Wales to urge the Welsh Government enact said legislation without undue 

delay. 

 

Petition raised by:  Simon Foster 

 

Date Petition first considered by Committee: 21 January 2014 

 

Number of signatures: 98 

 

 

Pack Page 97

Agenda Item 3.15



P-04-530 Bilingual labelling – Correspondence from the Petitioner to the 

Committee, 04.05.14.  

To Whom it May Concern, 

My response to the observation outlined by Welsh government minister Mark 

Drakford is profound dismay at our lack of self-determination coupled with a 

recognition of the threat posed by the EU government, and to a lesser extent, the 

UK government, to our continued national identity and existence.  

I would urge the Welsh government to enact legislation requiring the bilingual 

labeling of food products sold in Wales (as outlined in the petition) regardless of 

rules and regulations external to our nation.  

The European Union would then either have to recognise Welsh as a real language 

(i.e. give it 'official' status) or challenge the legislation in court where the merits of 

supporting the Welsh language could be debated in a transparent manner.  

The argument from a Welsh perspective should be: if Welsh is an official language 

in Wales, then it should be recognised as such in the EU. Disparate standards and 

recognitions among two governments purporting to represent the same nation (in 

this case Wales), is clearly unacceptable.  

I therefore urge the Welsh government to enact the said legislation requiring 

bilingual labeling in Wales (regardless of current EU or UK legislation) in order to 

affect positive change for Wales in her relationship to the EU and UK. 

Sincerely, 

Simon Foster 

Pack Page 98



P-04-500 Call For Regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in 

Wales 

Petition wording: 

We the undersigned, call on the National Assembly for Wales to urge the 

Welsh Government to regulate Animal Welfare Establishments and legislate 

for compulsory requirements be met by all animal rescue establishments in 

line with the report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments 

Working Group October 2012. The Welsh Government need to put in place 

legislation for Wales under the Animal Welfare Act(2006), to protect animals 

from neglect and abuse. 

 

Additional Info:  

More and more animals are suffering abuse, neglect and are being bred from 

in unregulated establishment who advertise as a Rescue Center, and we call 

upon the Welsh Assembly to legislate under the Animal Act 2006 to try and 

stop this from continuing. 

 

Petition raised by:  Lisa Winnett 

 

Date petition first considered by Committee: 24 September 2013 

 

Number of signatures: 265 

Pack Page 99

Agenda Item 3.16



P-04-500 Call For Regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales – 

Correspondence from the RSPCA to the Committee, 14.04.14 

Could I also draw your attention to the attached report by the Animal Welfare 

Network for Wales (of which I am Chair). We conducted a lengthy investigation into 

the need for regulating sanctuaries/rescues. This was a formal process which 

included a working group of experts (which included the Welsh Government and 

local authorities), oral evidence sessions and a written consultation process. We 

presented this to the Minister's predecessor (John Griffiths) but unfortunately we 

have yet to receive the Government's response. 

If I can be of any further help, please do let me know. We would be more than 

happy to attend a committee meeting if that would be of use. 

Best wishes, 

Claire Lawson 

Head of External Affairs 

RSPCA Cymru 

Pack Page 100



The case for the regulation of 
Animal Welfare Establishments  
in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare  
Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

October 2012

Pack Page 101



Every possible effort has been made to ensure that the information contained in this report is accurate at the time of going to press, and 
the publishers and authors cannot accept responsibility for any errors of omissions, however caused. No responsibility for loss or damage 
occasioned to any person acting, or refraining from action, as a result of the material in this publication can be accepted by the editor, the 
publishers or any of the authors.

First published in the United Kingdom in 2012 by the Animal Welfare Network for Wales.

Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of research or private study, or criticism or review, as permitted under the Copyright, Designs 
and Patents Act 1988, this publication may only be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means, with the prior permis-
sion in writing of the publishers, or in the case of reprographic reproduction in accordance with the terms and licences issued by the CLA.

© Animal Welfare Network for Wales 2012.

AWNW, C/o RSPCA Cymru, 10 Ty Nant Court, Morganstown, Cardiff CF15 8LW. 

The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

Pack Page 102



CONTENTS

FOREWORD  											          4

SECTION 1: BACKGROUND

1.1	 Introduction  										          5
1.2	 Working group members  								        5
1.3	 Why legislation is needed  								        6
1.4	 Size of the sector involved  								        6
1.5	 Problems to be addressed  								        7
1.6	 Case studies  										          8

SECTION 2: PARAMETERS

2.1	 Interpretation of terms  									         11
2.2	 Past definitions of what constitutes an ‘animal sanctuary’  	 	 	 	 12
2.3	 Agreed working definition of an ‘Animal Welfare Establishment’ for this report  	 	 12
2.4	 Legislative positioning  									         13

SECTION 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1	 Timeline of inquiry  									         14
3.2	 Engagement  										          15
3.3	 Evidence forms  									         16

SECTION 4: FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1	 Role in society  										         17
4.2	 The issue of hoarding  									         17
4.3	 Examples of concerns raised during the enquiry  					     19
4.4	 Options for regulation  									         20
4.5	 Size of Animal Welfare Establishments  							      20
4.6	 Data collection and visibility  								        21
4.7	 Animal welfare policy documents  	 	 	 	 	 	 	 21
4.8	 The question of wildlife  		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 24
4.9	 Accountability 										          25 
4.10	 Veterinary surgeons  									         25
4.11	 Inspections  										          25
4.12	 Compliance and penalties  								        27
4.13	 Costs and charges  									         27

SECTION 5: CONCLUSION   								        28

APPENDIX A: THE ROLE OF AWNW   								        29
APPENDIX B: CALL FOR EVIDENCE LETTER AND FORM  					     30
APPENDIX C: EVIDENCE  									         33
APPENDIX D: RSPCA INSPECTION STANDARDS  						      33
APPENDIX E: DEFRA CIRCULAR 02/2003 – ZOO LICENSING ACT 1981, ANNEX E  		  34

The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

Pack Page 103



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

“Compassion needs to be encouraged, but  
compassion without a sense of responsibility  
can lead to cruelty.”		        Gower Bird Hospital

FOREWORD

The Animal Welfare Network for Wales (AWNW) has been involved in the issue of Animal Welfare  
Establishments1 (AWEs) or ‘sanctuaries’ and the possibility of regulation from an early stage in the group’s 
history. It is an issue which is of particular concern to our members, many of whom could be classified as 
AWEs. Our members are therefore highly informed as to the factors that are necessary for running a 
successful AWE to high welfare standards, and also what can go wrong.

Back in 2009 AWNW’s work in this area led to the organisation of a popular seminar on the subject in North 
Wales. This event clearly illustrated that Network members were eager to engage in a lively debate on the 
issue and that there was a considerable level of concern about AWEs that were not being run properly and 
where animals were at risk. Discussions from this seminar led to the formation of the Sanctuaries Working 
Group, which later changed its name to the AWE Working Group, who began work on investigating the 
opinions of the sector.

This report, built on that wide variety of evidence gathered both within and outside the animal welfare sector, 
lays out the case for secondary legislation by the Welsh Government under the Animal Welfare Act (2006)  
and the form that this could take. The group has done its utmost to secure the opinions of all who may be  
affected by future regulation, along with independent legal advice, and feel that the end result is a balanced 
and achievable set of recommendations on how to move forward in this area towards proportionate regulation.

The structure of the working group that has produced this report has also been an interesting exercise for 
AWNW. Working with the Welsh Government, from the beginning of the process, and bringing together a 
diverse group of partners to achieve a coherent consensus has at times been a significant challenge, but also, 
a productive achievement. It is hoped that this form of external subject based working group run in partnership 
with the Welsh Government could be used as a template for future work going forward.

Many thanks go to those working group members who have attended meetings and contributed their valuable 
opinions towards the report over an extended period of time. Special thanks also need to go to RSPCA Cymru 
for their considerable commitment of staff time and resources needed to produce this report. Without this  
support this considerable body of work would have been unlikely to reach fruition. 
 

 
 
Tina Reece, AWNW Network Manager

1 Henceforth referred to as AWEs.4 Pack Page 104



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

5

SECTION 1: BACKGROUND

1.1	 Introduction

From the smallest organisation perhaps with just one individual acting on their own initiative to take in animals, 
to the largest rehoming centres of major UK charities, there are many issues that affect how well an AWE is run.

The Welsh Government has the opportunity to put in place legislation for Wales under the Animal Welfare Act 
(2006), or through an Assembly Act, which would both protect animals in this sector and ensure best practice. 
Public expectation would be high as to the protection of animals through the regulation of these establishments.

AWNW has a vested interest in this issue, as many of its members are AWEs. The Network has therefore 
investigated the issue and widely canvassed opinion from the animal welfare sector and those establishments 
who would be most affected by regulation, to produce this mapping document and a series of recommendations.

1.2	 Working group members

Chair:	 	 	 RSPCA Cymru/AWNW chair	 	 	    Claire Lawson

Members:		  BirdsFirst					        Greg Glendell
			   Born Free					        Chris Draper
			   British Rabbit Council				       Alan Gibbs
			   Catnip						         Liz Thomas
			   Cats Protection				      	    Catherine Smith
			   Dogs Trust 					        Paula Boyden/Chris Laurence
	 	 	 Gower Bird Hospital and BWRC		    	    Simon Allen
			   Great Dane Care				       Liz Davies
			   HelpMyPet					        Sarah Marsh
			   Hope Rescue					        Vanessa Waddon
	 	 	 Horse Trust	 	 	 	 	    Liane Crowther
			   Independent					        Rebecca Evans
			   Pit Pony Sanctuary				       Roy Peckham
	 	 	 Redwings Horse Sanctuary	 	 	    Nicolas De Brauwere
			   RSPCA					       	    Adam Grogan
			   Tamlin Watson Animal Behaviour Specialist	    Tamlin Watson
			   Torfaen County Borough Council		     Alison Hughes
			   World Horse Welfare				       Phil Jones
			   Wrexham County Borough Council		     Graham Capper

Advisor:	 	 Aberdeen University Law Department	    	    Mr Mike Radford

Observer:		  Welsh Government				       Sian Smith

Secretariat:	 	 AWNW Network Manager	 	 	    Tina Reece 

Pack Page 105



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

1.3	 Why legislation is needed

There are several pieces of legislation that cover the welfare of animals in Wales, the most prominent being 
the Animal Welfare Act (2006) (and its subsequent species-specific codes of practice) however no regulations 
exist to sufficiently and specifically govern the establishment of AWEs, nor their ongoing practices.

It is the opinion of this working group that in our experience much of the public are already under the 
impression that this area is regulated. However, the current situation is that any person, organisation or animal 
welfare establishment who holds themselves out to receive vulnerable animals on a regular basis, whether 
companion, farmed, protected or other animals, with a view to either rehoming, rehabilitating or providing 
long-term care, can do so. This has led to a catalogue of problems with this practice, including anything from 
basic animal welfare problems to the visibility of these individuals or organisations and access rights to monitor 
and inspect conditions in which animals are kept.

A precedent for regulation already exists in parts of Europe2, and there are parallels for us closer to home with 
the regulation of other animal related undertakings such as riding schools, dog breeders3 and dog and cat 
boarding in Wales and within other UK nations. Currently, although there is some information available, there 
is still no definitive data as to how many animal welfare establishments are operating in Wales4, because they 
are not required to register, which has wide ranging implications for animal welfare and disease control. 

1.4	 Size of the sector involved

The general visibility of the animal welfare sector is a major part of the issue of regulation for AWEs. 

Although most AWEs are an invaluable part of animal welfare services, there are times when things go wrong, 
often leading to a rapid decline in standards. Resources may become overwhelmed for many reasons. This 
may include irregular fees or donations which do not meet the required levels of funding to maintain  
operations, capability being surpassed due to large intakes of animals or specialist welfare and husbandry 
problems being encountered (such as for wildlife and exotics especially). These are common issues  
encountered by both large and small organisations. In these cases a framework or safety net is necessary to 
protect vulnerable animals and the organisations trying to deliver their care. There has long been recognition in 
the animal welfare sector, and, we believe, amongst informed members the public that this step is a necessary 
and positive move that will protect both the people and animals involved.

Of 146 AWNW members, 65 have self-defined their organisations as ‘sanctuaries’ or AWEs within  
our definition5, whilst  figures gathered by the Welsh Government in 2009-2011 identified 88 ‘sanctuaries’ or 
‘refuges’, and 54 ‘collectors’ in Wales6. 

2These countries and authorities include Jersey and others.
3Indeed the Welsh Government intends to bring forth stronger legislation in this area in the autumn of 2012.
4The CAWES baseline data project has given us a starting point for numbers of AWEs in Wales, but because of discrepancies in the data reporting of the different Local 
Authorities involved, the difficulty identifying relevant organisations and establishments, and the end of the scheme on the 31st of March 2011, we have been left with 
an incomplete picture of the scale of the problem.
5AWNW membership statistics – which are self defined by the organisation during their application process - showed that as of the 1st of January 2011 65 of our 145 
members classified themselves as a sanctuary, rehoming centre, nature reserve/wildlife centre/zoo, rescue or rehabilitation centre. More would also be included under 
the stricter definition set out for an AWEs in section 2.4 above. Please refer to the AWNW website for the AWNW’s full membership list, http://awnwales.org/search.
asp?hit=true
6The Welsh Government defined ‘collectors’ for the purposes of this data as an: ‘individual who keeps a number of different specimens of the same species for 
non-commercial purposes’ which could also mean these premises fall into our definition of an AWE.WAG has stated that trends cannot be accurately measured by this 
data due to differences and difficulties in the local authorities reporting. The full data can be found at http://wales.gov.uk/docs/drah/publications/101119cawesen.pdf6 Pack Page 106



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

Welsh Government Baseline Data collected by 22 Welsh Local Authorities under CAWES:

Unfortunately these figures still do not provide a comprehensive picture of the full extent of the sector. This is 
due to the definitions used for the data gathering process, which were not robustly defined, along with 
difficulties identifying all relevant individuals and organisations to be counted. As an example of this, wildlife 
premises were not included in the Welsh Government data. Local authorities were also only able to identify 
those organisations that they had the resources and understanding to cover. It should be noted that it can 
often be those who do not openly advertise themselves that are the organisations of particular concern.

The AWNW has very good representation from the active animal welfare sector in Wales, but its 
membership is not exhaustive. After an extensive mapping project of the sector in 2006, which was rerun and 
updated in 2009, AWNW databases show 122 animal welfare organisations who are not currently members of 
the Network. This project showed that overall there were approximately 268 animal welfare organisations in 
Wales, as well as many who remain unmapped due to issues such as their size or location7. It is worth noting 
here that members of AWNW are self-selecting, as there is no provision for automatic membership and 
organisations must apply and be accepted to the group8.

1.5	 Problems to be addressed

The primary concern identified by this report has been the poor standards of animal welfare that can  
affect AWEs. These concerns can be broken down as follows:

• 	 There are numerous cases of poor standards at AWEs, often reported as a result of concerns 	 	
	 raised by the public. Sometimes the standards have been so poor they have resulted in prosecutions 	
	 for cruelty and other welfare offences.  Please refer to section 1.6 for case studies;
• 	 There is an element of trust in the system of sanctuaries from the public, which assumes some level of 	
	 knowledge, professionalism and accountability which unfortunately is not always the reality;
• 	 AWEs are vulnerable to rapid declines or large fluctuations in standards. The expenditure required to 
	 provide care and treatment can easily exceed income generated from rehoming fees (if any) so 
	 resources are typically strained. When donations are sparse, welfare standards are vulnerable and 	
	 may be compromised. Fluctuations in numbers and types of animals depending on the season may 	
	 cause difficulties in planning and can lead to AWEs becoming quickly overburdened.  With fixed 	 	
	 resources available, taking in more animals can lead to lesser standards of care available for each 	
	 individual animal within an AWE. These organisations are typically heavily reliant on volunteers and 	
	 thus when key individuals became temporarily or permanently unavailable, welfare standards can 	
	 quickly deteriorate;

			            2008-9			        2009-10			   2010-11

Sanctuary/refuge	             85			             82			       88

Collectors		              12			             34			       54

7Data as collected through AWNW membership review data collected in 2006 showing 629 animal welfare related organisations with dealings in Wales, many of which 
could be assumed to fall into the definition of AWEs.
8To date there have been no organisations that have been rejected for membership. The membership terms can be found at http://awnwales.org/membersterms.asp 7Pack Page 107



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

• 	 There are no safeguards to prevent people who lack the requisite knowledge, skills, resources, 	 	
	 commitment, facilities and equipment, from operating an establishment;
• 	 There is a lack of knowledge about which individuals and organisations are operating as AWEs, what 	
	 types of animals they care for and what standards they operate to, which if standards are low may 	
	 well lead to poor levels of animal welfare. Given this lack of knowledge it is currently difficult to identify 	
	 where problems are occurring until they become of a severe nature and often animals are suffering 	
	 considerably. Given that decisions regarding regulation should be based on good quality data, 
	 inspection of AWEs is necessary to obtain this data and identify which are ‘high-risk’ and which already 	
	 have systems in place to ensure adequate standards of welfare. For example, small AWEs with limited 	
	 funding, run by a small group or an individual, pose a greater risk of poor standards of welfare arising 	
	 due to financial pressures. Some AWEs that are not open to the public can also carry a greater risk of 	
	 problems not being visible to be picked up by enforcers. 

1.6	 Case studies

The need for regulation of AWEs can be illustrated by a number of prosecution case studies taken from recent 
years. It should be noted that by the time these situations came to light the problems were already at the 
suffering stage for the animals involved. Each of the cases below could have been prevented through 
regulation and careful regular monitoring. More worrying, are the cases that don’t come to light and the AWEs 
that function with no oversight, perhaps with the public assuming wrongly that there is a system of external 
monitoring already in place.

Case Summary 1 (RSPCA)9:
Mr and Mrs J – Animal sanctuary run from a three-bedroom semi-detached residential council 
house. Both defendants (Mr and Mrs J) were unemployed.

Charges:
Both defendants were charged with causing unnecessary suffering by unreasonably omitting to 
provide the animals (being 23 cats, five snakes, three lizards and one rabbit) proper and necessary 
care and attention contrary to section 1(1)(a) of the Protection of Animals Act (1911). Mr and Mrs 
J effectively became an AWE when they advertised that they would find good and loving homes 
for any unwanted animals. The animals were underfed, kept in dirty conditions (also the responsible 
Inspector found evidence of ringworm in the house) and the defendants failed to provide adequate 
veterinary care. Mr and Mrs J pleaded not guilty to all the charges and trial was heard on 30  
September – 3 October 2003.  The case was not concluded at this time and was adjourned to 10 
November 2003.  

Outcome:
Mr J – 30 convictions were brought against him.  He received a three-year conditional discharge 
and is subject to a disqualification order in relation to all animals for life, except for one dog, one 
rabbit and three cats.  Mr J was required to rehome the above animals within fourteen days. 
following an agreement with the Court. Mrs J – 30 convictions were brought against her. 

9Taken from RSPCA prosecution data.8 Pack Page 108



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

She received a confiscation order and is subject to a disqualification order in relation to all animals 
for life, except for one dog, one rabbit and three cats.  Mrs J was required to rehome the above 
animals within fourteen days following an agreement with the Court. An appeal was lodged by Mr 
and Mrs J against their convictions and sentences.  Mr and Mrs J withdrew their appeals on the 
day of the appeal hearing.  

Case Summary 2 (RSPCA)10:
Ms P – Ran a small scale animal sanctuary which was based at her home and in some barns. The 
defendant was unemployed.

Charges:
The defendant was charged with causing unnecessary suffering by unreasonably omitting to 
provide proper and necessary care and attention contrary to section 1(1)(a) of the Protection of 
Animals Act (1911) to a Shetland type cross-bred mare pony. The pony was suffering from laminitis 
which the defendant made no effort to seek veterinary help to alleviate the animal’s suffering. The 
pony was eventually euthanised. Ms P pleaded guilty to the charge and trial was heard on 7 April 
2005. 

Outcome:
The defendant is subject to an 80 hours Community Punishment Order and was ordered to pay 
costs of £100 and compensation of £634.47.

Case Study 3 (A Welsh Local Authority)11:
A hobbyist caring for his chosen species of birds soon became known in the locality and people 
started taking injured birds to him to rehabilitate. When the residential property could no longer 
provide for the accommodation needs of the birds, he relocated and built new aviaries. People 
began to visit and give donations to fund his work. The population expanded, more aviaries were 
built and publicity resulted in more visitors.

Gradually the hobby and wish to educate people about wildlife became subject to the regulatory 
control of the Zoo Licensing Act (1981). The operator explained that there was no intention to 
become a business, as a zoo, and was reluctant to accept the situation and wanted to remain as a 
‘sanctuary’ not subject to legislative controls. Unfortunately, the escalation in numbers of birds bred 
on site, injured wild birds and re-homed unwanted pets, brought about a decline in welfare 
standards.

Outcome:
Existing legislation was enforced, a closure notice under the Zoo Licensing Act (1981) was served 
and a prosecution taken under the Animal Welfare Act (2006). These actions proved to be very 
unpopular with the general public.

10Taken from RSPCA prosecution data.
11Supplied anonymously by a Welsh Local Authority by an officer involved with the incident. 9Pack Page 109



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

This unlicensed zoo closed to visitors and continued as a ‘sanctuary’ thus a prosecution was not 
proceeded with under the Zoo Licensing Act (1981). The costs associated with prosecution and 
conviction under section 4 of the Animal Welfare Act (2006) amounted to £4,000, costs awarded 
to the council were £500. It should be acknowledged that the cost would have been substantially 
increased without the RSPCA Inspectors who assisted with transportation, accommodation and 
responsibility for several of the birds signed over to them without charge to the council.  

Case Summary 4 (RSPCA):12a

Mr and Mrs M – Wildlife sanctuary. Mr M was employed. Mrs M was unemployed. A prosecution was 
not brought against Mr and Mrs M because it failed to meet the evidential and public interest tests. 
This was in relation to a number of birds kept at the sanctuary and the investigating Inspector felt the 
following offences had been committed:
1. Causing unnecessary suffering by failing to provide adequate care and attention contrary to section 
1(1)(a) of the Protection of Animals Act (1911).
2. Keeping the birds in cages that were too small contrary to section 8(1) of the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act (1981).
3. Possessing wild birds which was contrary to section 1(2)(a) of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
(1981).
4. Not registering a Schedule 4 bird contrary to section 7 Wildlife & Countryside Act (1981).
5. Displaying Annex A species to the public without the Article 10 certificates contrary to section 8(1) 
of the Control of Trade in Endangered Species (Enforcement) Regulations (1997).

Outcome:
Adult Cautions were issued and signed by both Mr and Mrs M.

10
12aThe Report On Companion Animal Welfare Establishments: Sanctuaries, Shelters And Re-Homing Centres, The Companion Animal Welfare Council, 2004, 2.1.1, 
p14 http://core.kmi.open.ac.uk/download/pdf/27685/34&sa=U&ei=ib7LTqqPGIWR8gPhyLDqDw&ved=0CCMQFjAH&sig2=OgY0KGLc8j_6lm4ht1-Yqg&usg=AFQjCNFD
n8fHfuwWLUHTswwjdIN9UhrUnw Pack Page 110



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

12bThe Report On Companion Animal Welfare Establishments: Sanctuaries, Shelters And Re-Homing Centres, The Companion Animal Welfare Council, 2004, 2.1.1, 
p14 http://core.kmi.open.ac.uk/download/pdf/27685/34&sa=U&ei=ib7LTqqPGIWR8gPhyLDqDw&ved=0CCMQFjAH&sig2=OgY0KGLc8j_6lm4ht1-Yqg&usg=AFQjCNFD
n8fHfuwWLUHTswwjdIN9UhrUnw 
13For clarification this does not include veterinary practices.
14This is not an exhaustive list, but the working group as flagged those examples that they particularly want covered by regulation in this area. The group would prefer 
to see a non-prescriptive list with exemptions only if absolutely necessary and such a case was proven.
15Animals to which the Animal Welfare Act (2006) applies are listed in Introductory section 1: “animal” means a vertebrate other than man; (2)  Nothing in this Act 
applies to an animal while it is in its foetal or embryonic form; (3) The appropriate national authority may by regulations for all or any of the purposes of this Act (a) 
extend the definition of “animal” so as to include invertebrates of any description; (b) make provision in lieu of subsection (2) as respects any invertebrates included in 
the definition of “animal”; (c) amend subsection (2) to extend the application of this Act to an animal from such earlier stage of its development as may be specified in 
the regulations. (4) The power under subsection (3)(a) or (c) may only be exercised if the appropriate national authority is satisfied, on the basis of scientific evidence, 
that animals of the kind concerned are capable of experiencing pain or suffering. (5)In this section, “vertebrate” means any animal of the Sub-phylum Vertebrata of the 
Phylum Chordata and “invertebrate” means any animal not of that Sub-phylum. http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/45/crossheading/introductory
16Taken from the Animal Welfare Act (2006) definition, Introductory section 2: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/45/crossheading/introductory 
17Animal Welfare Act (2006), Introductory section 3: a person responsible for an animal whether on a permanent or temporary basis.; (2) being in charge of it; (3) a 
person who owns an animal shall always be regarded as being a person who is responsible for it; (4) a person shall be treated as responsible for any animal for which 
a person under the age of 16 years of whom he has actual care and control is responsible.
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/45/crossheading/introductory 

SECTION 2: PARAMETERS

2.1	 Interpretation of terms

Animal welfare establishment (AWE):
Originally adapted from the CAWC definition12b which aims to better reflect the function of establishments 
and organisations such as ‘sanctuaries’ and provide an umbrella term for what can be a diverse sector. For 
the purposes of this report therefore, an animal welfare establishment is any establishment which held itself 
out to take in and to care (temporarily, permanently, or both) for vulnerable animals13. This could include 
establishments known as: animal home, sanctuary, shelter, rehoming centre, rest home, hospital, 
rehabilitation centre, rescue centre, stray animal facilities (local authority or contractor). The function of 
these establishments could include: taking in unwanted animals, rehoming, keeping for life, lost animals, 
treatment on a small or large scale or sick or injured animals, taking in retired animals, rehabilitation14. It 
would not be possible to create a definition of AWEs based on numbers of vulnerable animals taken in or by 
severe limitations on species, but rather the organisation must be defined by what they do.

Vulnerable animals:
The definition of a protected animal can be taken from the Animal Welfare Act (2006).15 Animals which are lost, 
un-owned, unwanted, injured, diseased, neglected, abused, orphaned, at risk of harm, or whose owners are 
unable to cope should be included. These could be companion animals, farm animals or protected animals. 

Protected animal:
An animal is a ‘protected animal’ if: it is of a kind which is commonly domesticated in the British Islands; it is 
under the control of man whether on a permanent or temporary basis; or it is not living in a wild state.16 

Wild animal:
A ‘wild animal’ means any animal (including a wild bird) which is or (before it was killed or taken) was living 
wild; ‘wild bird’ means any bird of a species which is ordinarily resident in or is a visitor to the European 
territory of any member State in a wild state.

Person:
The definition of human responsibility for an animal can be taken from the Animal Welfare Act (2006).17 For the 
purposes of this report a ‘person’ is an individual or company not associated with any group or organisation in 
regards to holding themselves out to receive vulnerable animals on a regular basis. For the issue of fostering, 
these individuals could be captured under the legal responsibility of the organisation they were acting for, 
rather than being personally liable or under a requirement to gain any sort of licence. 

11Pack Page 111



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

18Draft Animal Sanctuaries (Licensing) Bill, a Private Members Bill put forward by Ian Cawsey MP http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200102/cm-
bills/022/2002022.pdf 
19Email exchange between the RSPCA’s Adam Grogan and Sash Foreman, and Defra, 2006. 

Organisation:
For the purposes of this report an ‘organisation’ is the persons (or committees or departments etc.) who 
make up a body for the purpose of administering an animal welfare establishment. If the organisation is a 
charity or trustee incorporated association, trustees would hold responsibility.

Holding out:
There was a need to distinguish between individuals buying and keeping animals and those ‘holding 
themselves out’ to receive animals. For the purposes of this report advertising or being well known in the 
locality for taking in vulnerable animals could be classified as ‘holding one’s self out’ to receive animals. 
Hoarders of the type who buy or adopt their animals would therefore not be classified as an AWE. The issue 
turns on the vulnerability of the animal (such as the issue of selling rescue animals). Even if it means that 
some individuals escape the net, it was agreed that a distinction had to be made in this area.

2.2	 Past definitions of what constitutes an ‘animal sanctuary’

Definition of an ‘animal sanctuary’ written in 2001 for the draft Animal Sanctuaries (Licensing) Bill18:
In this Act “animal sanctuary” means any premises at which ten or more animals, or, in the case of 
equines, four, are normally kept for the purpose of protection, rehabilitation, rest or rehoming other than: 
any establishment at which any animal is kept and the use of the establishment for that purpose is 
licensed in accordance with, any other enactment; any premises owned or operated by a local authority 
and used for the detention or care of any animal by that authority in the exercise of its functions under 
any enactment.

Definition of an ‘animal sanctuary’ written by Defra in 2006: 
An animal sanctuary is any premises which is willing to admit and care for displaced, injured or 
unwanted animals on a regular basis, whether companion, farmed, wild or other animals, with a view to 
either rehoming, rehabilitating or providing long-term care for them. 

And further refined by the RSPCA in 200619:
An animal sanctuary is any facility which seeks to admit and care for displaced, injured or unwanted 
animals on a regular basis, whether companion, farmed, wild or other animals, with a view to either 
rehoming, rehabilitating or providing long-term care for them.

2.3	 Agreed working definition of an ‘Animal Welfare Establishment’ for 	
	 this report

For the purposes of this report, an Animal Welfare Establishment shall be defined henceforth as:
A person, organisation or establishment who holds themselves out to receive vulnerable animals on a 
regular basis, whether companion, farmed, protected or other animals, with a view to either rehoming, 
rehabilitating or providing long-term care.

12 Pack Page 112



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

20The exceptions being Hunting and Animal Experiments
21http://conventions.coe.int/treaty/Commun/QueVoulezVous.asp?NT=125&CL=ENG

2.4	 Legislative positioning

As mentioned earlier the Welsh Government has the capacity to legislate in this area either through 
introducing regulations (secondary legislation under the Animal Welfare Act) or by through primary legislation 
and what is called an Act of the Assembly. Indeed when the UK Government passed the Animal Welfare Act in 
(2006), which is enabling framework legislation, there was an intention by the drafters that the issue of 
sanctuaries should be considered next (along with other issues). This Act devolved the responsibility for 
introducing secondary legislation to Wales and indeed since it was subsequently implemented by the Welsh 
Government in March 2007 there have been several developments, namely Codes of Practice for cats, dogs, 
equines and rabbits, as well as a ban on the use of shock collars for cats and dogs.

Although the 2011 referendum saw the whole area of animal welfare devolved to Wales20 the Animal Welfare 
Act still provides the simplest method for introducing regulations for sanctuaries because the purpose of the 
regulations would fit closely to the primary purpose of the Act, to promote animal welfare, although legislation 
would also help to make these organisations accountable in other areas, both formally and informally.

The European Convention for the Protection of Pet Animals21, which the UK has not yet signed up to, has 
some areas with which the four nations of the UK does not comply with currently, such as the requirement 
to have regulation of sanctuaries. If the UK was to sign up to the Convention in the future, such requirements 
would need to be addressed anyway. It is worth noting however, that the Convention’s definition of sanctuaries 
is widely considered to be inadequate.

13Pack Page 113



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

14

SECTION 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1	 Timeline of inquiry

The working group engaged in an investigation and mapping exercise to seek evidence from interested parties 
in Wales with the view to producing this report containing recommendations by the end of 2012. This is not a 
campaigning group and will cease to exist following the report’s publication.

June 2009:
The issue was first examined in an AWNW seminar held in Llandudno on the 4th of June 2009. The topic 
had been suggested by the Board of the Network because of informal discussions and concerns on the 
topic gathered from members.

Key speakers at this event were: Adam Grogan (RSPCA Wildlife Department), Simon Allen (Gower Bird 
Hospital), Graham Capper (Wrexham County Borough Council) and Mr Mike Radford (Reader of Law at 
Aberdeen University).

This seminar was very well attended and sparked animated discussion amongst our members which 
resulted in a resolution to establish the AWNW Sanctuaries Working Group.

December 2009:
At the inaugural meeting of the working group on the 9th of December 2009 it was decided that 
proportionate legislation to address current and potential problems was the ultimate goal of the  
working group.

Mike Radford, a Reader of Law from Aberdeen University and a specialist in animal welfare law agreed to 
consult for the group as it completed the mapping exercise and developed recommendations with a robust 
definition of what constitutes an AWE. 

April 2010:
The mapping exercise was undertaken through evidence gathering from interested groups across Wales 
through both oral sessions and written submissions. The forms inviting written submissions were distributed 
on the 29th of April 2010, with a deadline of the 30th of June 2010.

All members of AWNW were emailed evidence forms and an invitation to one of the three oral evidence 
sessions on the 29th of April 2010. Members were also encouraged to forward the evidence form and 
introductory email to any other organisation or individuals they felt may be interested in submitting evidence, 
or to pass on their contact details to the Network Co-ordinator who would forward them evidence forms.

The Network also forwarded evidence forms to a database of 162 vets in Wales and all 22 Welsh local 
authorities. The councils also received an appeal to forward copies of the evidence forms to all of the 
‘sanctuaries’ identified by their CAWES baseline data gathering exercise, as these addresses were 
protected by data protection and could not be released to the Network.

Pack Page 114



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

15

May 2010:
Oral evidence gathering sessions offered at various venues in north, mid and south Wales during May of 
2010 to ensure access to all interested parties and allow those not comfortable with submitting written 
evidence, or with literacy issues, to take part. No bookings were made for the north and mid Wales sessions 
on the 5th of May 2010 at the Welsh Government offices, Aberystwyth, the 25th of May 2010 Welsh 
Government offices, Merthyr Tydfil, and the 10th of June 2010 Welsh Government offices, Caernarfon. 
These sessions were subsequently cancelled. However, a fully booked south Wales session was held in 
Merthyr Tydfil on the 15th of May 2010.

July 2011:
Once the evidence was gathered and legal recommendations received, the working group met on five 
subsequent occasions to discuss the construction of the recommendations to be put forward to the Welsh 
Government in the form of this report.

October 2012:
Completed report submitted to the Welsh Government.

3.2	 Engagement

The Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group is made up of AWNW members who 
expressed an interest in any future regulation of AWEs in Wales. The Welsh Government has also attended 
meetings in the capacity of an observer.

AWNW has been functioning since 2006 and has as yet never had to deny membership to an organisation 
wishing to join. All member organisations of the Network were given the opportunity to get involved with the 
working group and later, to submit their own evidence and circulate the evidence forms to others they thought 
may have an interest in responding.

Local authorities via the Welsh Government also circulated evidence forms and invitations to oral evidence 
sessions to all of the sanctuaries that they had identified through the CAWES Baseline Data project.

After the second meeting of the working group the list was closed to new members, although these 
organisations could still attend evidence sessions and submit their written evidence. This was to ensure all 
members of the group had an equal amount of knowledge on the subject and an adequate 
understanding of the issues being dealt with, and thus a collective responsibility for producing the report.

The working group meetings were covered by the AWNW normal terms and conditions, available on the 
Network website at www.awnwales.org/membersterms.

Organisations who submitted written evidence were (in alphabetical order):22

1.	 BirdsFirst
2.	 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council
3.	 Cardiff County Council
4.	 Cats Protection
5.	 Dogs Trust

22Please see Appendix C for a link to the full written evidence. Pack Page 115



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

11.	 Maesteg Animal Welfare Society
12.	 National Ferret Welfare Society
13.	 North Wales Reptile and Raptor Sanctuary
14.	 Pembroke Hospital
15.	 Pet Care Trust
16.	 Raptor Rescue
17.	 RSPCA
18.	 RSPCA Llys Nini Branch
19.	 Veteran Horse Welfare
20.	 Wild Futures
21.	 World Horse Welfare

Organisations who submitted oral evidence were (in alphabetical order):23

1.	 Gower Bird Hospital
2.	 Great Dane Care
3.	 Greyhound Rescue Wales
4.	 Hope Rescue 
5.	 Horse Trust
6.	 National Federation of British Herpetologists
7.	 Redwings Horse Sanctuary
8.	 RSPCA

Overall, 26 separate organisations submitted evidence to the enquiry.

3.3	 Evidence forms

A standard evidence form was sent out as a template for submitting written evidence and structuring the 
oral evidence sessions.24 Responders were also encouraged to add any information not covered by the 
questions in the form which they saw as relevant.

23Please see Appendix C for full transcripts.
24Please see Appendix B.16 Pack Page 116



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

SECTION 4: FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1	 Role in society

The place of AWEs is very important in the role of animal health and welfare and is a central element in 
society’s response to these issues. It should be stressed that this is an essential service and offers a very 
significant contribution to animal welfare and the ethical and social needs of society. Those involved range 
from large organisations, to very small, to individuals – but well run versions of each of these AWEs offer 
something special to the field. In many cases, without smaller AWEs, larger organisations would not be able to 
cope. The existence of AWEs is therefore a public good. 

The many and varied roles undertaken by AWEs include:
1.	 Assisting in reuniting owners and keepers with their animals;
2.	 Providing an important source of animals for those seeking new companions;
3.	 Rehabilitating companion animals to make good companions;
4.	 Alleviating and preventing animal suffering;
5.	 Protecting animal health and public health and safety;
6.	 Protecting vulnerable species and wildlife/protected animals;
7.	 Treating injury and disease;
8.	 Educating the public about animal welfare;25

9.	 Absorbing the costs of animal rehabilitation/treatment and housing for unwanted animals;
10.	 Reducing public nuisance;
11.	 Rehabilitating wildlife, and;
12.	 Promoting responsible animal ownership.

“Even in the best regulated society it is inevitable 
that some animals will become unwanted for a  
variety of social reasons such as relationship 
breakdown, death or financial hardship.”	   Dogs Trust

4.2	 The issue of hoarding

The problem of hoarding animals should be seen as distinct and separate to that of the regulation of AWEs 
covered in this report. Unfortunately, individuals engaged in hoarding animals can often be suffering from issues 
such as financial strain and mental health problems which exacerbate their inability to provide for their animals’ 
welfare. These individuals can also come to be informally labelled as an AWE by the public because of 
general misconceptions about their situation, which can in turn can add to the pressure on them to take in 
more animals.

25Covering all relevant educational areas including wildlife, farm and domestic animals. 17Pack Page 117



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

This issue has been raised at numerous points during this enquiry in both the evidence sessions, by the 
working group members and our legal advisor. It has been agreed by the group that the issue of  
animal hoarding is separate to the regulation of legitimate AWEs. They are private individuals who hoard 
animals and although they may take in animals from the public from time to time, they do not qualify fully 
under the definition of sanctuaries as stated earlier. These situations are also difficult to monitor and the 
authorities rely on social services, neighbours and visits to report animal welfare concerns, once this has 
happened they can usually be dealt with under the Animal Welfare Act directly, thus it is inappropriate to 
include ‘hoarding’ under any proposed AWE regulation. 

Those individuals in a similar situation who are ‘holding themselves out to the public’ to receive animals 
however, should be covered by proposed regulation. It is unlikely individuals in this situation would be able to 
meet the requirements of any such regulation and consequently the welfare needs of the animals in their care, 
in which case regulation would act to protect them from their own good intentions.

 

18 

 

Animal Welfare Act directly, thus it is inappropriate to include ‘hoarding’ under any proposed AWE 
regulation. Those individuals in a similar situation who are ‘holding themselves out to the public’ 
to receive animals however, should be covered by proposed regulation. It is unlikely individuals in 
this situation would be able to meet the requirements of any such regulation and consequently 
the welfare needs of the animals in their care, in which case regulation would act to protect them 
from their own good intentions. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70 cats kept in a house © RSPCA 70 cats kept in a house © RSPCA

18 Pack Page 118



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

4.3	 Examples of concerns about AWEs raised during the inquiry

“We have seen tremendous welfare problems arising from the existence of well-meaning but 
unregulated and poorly run ‘sanctuaries’.”		                  			   Wild Futures

“Sanctuaries often begin as a well-meaning person’s hobby developing into a genuine wish to 
help their chosen species, which can grow beyond their expectations. This escalation can result 
in attempting to care for too many animals without the financial means to ensure sufficient food, 
satisfactory accommodation, cleanliness, socialisations, exercise, veterinary treatment etc.”		
				         				         Blaenau Gwent County Council

“There are many [AWEs] with poor standards such as overcrowding and high levels of infectious 
disease...”			                        		                     		          Cats Protection 

“In 2006, the RSPCA assisted with a raid on an establishment thought to be holding illegally caught 
wild birds. They seized over 100 animals of various species which were being kept in some appalling 
conditions. The owner was found guilty of a number of offences under the Protection of Animals 
Act and of one offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act. However, the sanctuary had a good 
public profile in the neighbourhood and because of this the owner was charged with improving the 
conditions of the establishment with the assistance of the RSPCA.”					                                            	
     											                   RSPCA

“90% of sanctuaries I have visited are disgusting. People ‘rescue’ animals and are unable to care for 
them.”						                          	         Veteran Horse Welfare

 

19 

 

4.3 Examples of concerns about AWEs raised during the inquiry 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

“We have seen tremendous welfare problems arising from the existence of well-meaning but 
unregulated and poorly run ‘sanctuaries’.”                                      - Wild Futures 
 
“Sanctuaries often begin as a well-meaning person’s hobby developing into a genuine wish to 
help their chosen species, which can grow beyond their expectations. This escalation can 
result in attempting to care for too many animals without the financial means to ensure 
sufficient food, satisfactory accommodation, cleanliness, socialisations, exercise, veterinary 
treatment etc.”            - Blaenau Gwent County Council 
 
“There are many [AWEs] with poor standards such as overcrowding and high levels of 
infectious disease...”                                             - Cats Protection  
 
“In 2006, the RSPCA assisted with a raid on an establishment thought to be holding illegally 
caught wild birds. They seized over 100 animals of various species which were being kept in 
some appalling conditions. The owner was found guilty of a number of offences under the 
Protection of Animals Act and of one offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act. 
However, the sanctuary had a good public profile in the neighbourhood and because of this 
the owner was charged with improving the conditions of the establishment with the assistance 
of the RSPCA.”                                                   - RSPCA 
 
“90% of sanctuaries I have visited are disgusting. People “rescue” animals and are unable to 
care for them.”                          - Veteran Horse Welfare 

Self-plucked mitred conure in sanctuary, UK  © Greg Glendel/BirdsFirst 

Self-plucked mitred conure in sanctuary, UK  © Greg Glendel/BirdsFirst

19Pack Page 119



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

4.4	 Options for regulation

Given the evidence submitted to this working group and the problems that have been identified in the past, it 
was established that the status-quo was not an option and that some form of regulation was required. 

There was a general recognition that a proactive scheme of compulsory regulation for organisations defined 
as AWEs would be preferable for animal welfare to that of registration or self-regulation, specifically because it is 
essential that the system offers tools such as access and enforcement of penalties, to ensure compliance.

Registration would allow general visibility of establishments, but not any level of accountability, which would 
not solve the problems of identifying welfare problems before they escalated. Self-regulation would also be 
undesirable because of a lack of visibility and the wide and varied range of opinions and experience in the 
sector. 

There were concerns raised about the ability of smaller organisations to meet monetary and bureaucratic 
requirements for this. A number of suggested solutions to this have been raised, including that of a tiered 
payment system. It was generally agreed that the fees for inspection and regulation must be proportionate to 
the costs involved. It was also agreed, however, that any inability to meet such running costs should indicate 
that there may be a lack of sufficient funds to ensure welfare standards, particularly given the costs of 
veterinary treatment.

We accept that given the variety within the sector any form of regulation must be proportionate but effective.

“The existence of small establishments which care 
for companion animals and/or wildlife is crucial to 
the ongoing welfare of animals in [rural] areas, where 
transportation of the animals to larger centres in built 
up areas may be impractical or impossible.”	 RSPCA

4.5	 Size of AWEs

Any regulation would not be about big organisations versus small – for example the larger groups forcing out 
the small, as there should be room for all sizes of organisations to function in this area, so long as they provide 
an adequate standard of care. To an extent, in some sectors the large organisations need the small and 
vice-versa, in terms of ensuring standards and providing spaces for all animals in need of care. The point 
should also be made that regulation would allow identification of these smaller AWEs, which can often exist 
without any official or public knowledge.

Any future implemented regulation scheme could necessitate the closure of some AWEs which are unable to 
reach the required standards due to cost etc. This could be regarded as a positive outcome in cases where 
AWEs are operating without proper regard for welfare or beyond their capabilities and funds. Although this 
should only affect a very small number of establishments, the effect on the remaining AWEs would be felt due 
to increased demand on their services.

20 Pack Page 120



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

4.6	 Data collection and visibility

It is essential that the legislation makes the return of certain data a compulsory requirement. There is no 
reliable information concerning the total number of AWEs in Wales at this time and the nature of their 
interaction with animals in their care i.e. welfare outcomes, euthanasia, disease/condition incidents. 
Regulation would allow local authorities to retain a comprehensive list of all AWEs in their area, including 
locations, animals/species catered for, resources and training available, contact numbers etc. This could be an 
invaluable resource for joint working and visibility in the future. Statistics on the nature of the work being 
undertaken would also become clearer and more easily quantified and analysed to give a more accurate 
picture of the impact on the animal welfare sector.

4.7	 Animal welfare policy documents

There must be a clear standard for AWEs to achieve, and this must be clearly documented and generally 
available.

While the working group accepts that it is preferable to inspect outputs (results of animals taken into care) 
rather than inputs (culture and policies), we recognise the difficulty in doing so with such a broad spectrum of 
species.  However many output matters can be dealt with by the provision of adequate documentation by the 
establishment. Such policy and operating procedure documents would be required to demonstrate compliance 
with the Animal Welfare Act (2006), and particularly to Section 9.  The issue of a licence should be dependent 
on the provision of satisfactory documentation (in addition to an inspection – see 5.8).

Of those organisations who responded to the call for evidence for this enquiry, many of whom are 
defined as AWEs, 23 out of 26 agreed with some form of policies being required of all AWEs as a 
condition of their registration/licence.

A recognised and enforced minimum standard needs to be the basis of any regulation of AWEs. This has 
been proposed as taking the form of AWEs providing compulsory policy documents covering certain set areas. 
These polices would be made available for scrutiny as part of any inspection process and would be available 
to the public if requested. It would be required that the policies comply with Section 9 of the Animal Welfare Act 
(2006) and cover certain defined areas in order for a licence to be granted. 

Because of the diversity of animals kept by AWEs it is advised that current Animal Welfare Act Codes of 
Practice be used as the basis of any compulsory policy documents for those species they have currently been 
produced, and other recognised sources (such as those used by RSPCA, BVA, GFAS etc.) be utilised for 
other species until such time as further Codes of Practice are developed to cover them.

The person responsible for the development of the compulsory policy documents should be the operator of the 
AWE, which means the natural or legal persons responsible for ensuring that the requirements of animal 
welfare and licensing law are met within the AWE under their control; it may be that another person or persons 
will take the lead in developing these policies, but the operator of the AWE cannot delegate overall 
responsibility for this work.

21Pack Page 121



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

Such policy documents would demonstrate a level of forethought and contingency planning in key areas of 
animal health and welfare and general management regimes and should cover key areas. This would help to 
remove any ambiguity over the organisation’s practices and intentions and allow consistency over the entire 
sector. 

Policies provided should include the compulsory and non-compulsory requirements listed below, and should 
aim to avoid any unnecessary suffering of animals in care as outlined in the Animal Welfare Act (2006):26 The 
level of detail needed for the compulsory policy documents will depend on the type and size of AWE 
undertaking, but will as a minimum need to be in writing, in a format that can be readily viewed, and kept at  
the AWE in question at all times so that they can be viewed as part of any inspection process.

Collaboration and information sharing should be utilised in this process, with guidance and model templates 
already in use by other AWEs and the local authority. Those establishments not able to prove that their policies 
comply with the Animal Welfare Act should be denied a licence and either encouraged to reach the standards 
required within a specified time period or to close. Help should be offered to those organisations below  
standard and who wish to upgrade to improve, perhaps through support from nominated organisations recorded 
on a list of experts such as the RSPCA.27

22

26 ‘Unnecessary suffering’ as defined by the Animal Welfare Act 2006: (1)A person commits an offence if— (a)an act of his, or a failure of his to act, causes an animal 
to suffer, (b)he knew, or ought reasonably to have known, that the act, or failure to act, would have that effect or be likely to do so, (c)the animal is a protected animal, 
and (d)the suffering is unnecessary. (2)A person commits an offence if— (a)he is responsible for an animal, (b)an act, or failure to act, of another person causes the 
animal to suffer, (c)he permitted that to happen or failed to take such steps (whether by way of supervising the other person or otherwise) as were reasonable in all the 
circumstances to prevent that happening, and (d)the suffering is unnecessary. (3)The considerations to which it is relevant to have regard when determining for the 
purposes of this section whether suffering is unnecessary include— (a)whether the suffering could reasonably have been avoided or reduced; (b)whether the conduct 
which caused the suffering was in compliance with any relevant enactment or any relevant provisions of a licence or code of practice issued under an enactment; 
(c)whether the conduct which caused the suffering was for a legitimate purpose, such as— (i)the purpose of benefiting the animal, or (ii)the purpose of protecting a 
person, property or another animal; (d)whether the suffering was proportionate to the purpose of the conduct concerned; (e)whether the conduct concerned was in all 
the circumstances that of a reasonably competent and humane person. (4)Nothing in this section applies to the destruction of an animal in an appropriate and humane 
manner.
27 This would have to be a request made separately to the RSPCA for their consideration.

 

24 

 

 
 
 
 

4.8. The question of wildlife 

Wild animal rehabilitation is a specialised area of animal welfare with many different needs, 
facilities and outcomes than for companion or farm animals. There are risks to human safety as 
well as separate/additional legislation governing protected wild animals. Consideration must be 
given to the number of different species admitted, types of housing available, rehabilitation 
methods and provision for monitoring success rates, as well as the potential to spread disease to 
other protected or domestic animals, livestock or people. Record keeping for compliance with the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 is compulsory for those species listed on Schedule 4 of this 
Act; however for most other species it is the responsibility of the keeper to demonstrate the 
provenance of the animals in their care. Such records should be kept in all centres treating 
wildlife and this should be a requirement of any new legislation. Animal welfare for wild animals is 
poorly understood; wild bred animals have a natural fear response to people and can exhibit high 
levels of stress behaviour in captivity. Furthermore, these animals are not pets and should not be 
treated as such. 
 
Wildlife rehabilitation centres admit many different species of wildlife, requiring different housing, 
handling and treatment protocols. They must be able to demonstrate knowledge of the biology 
and ecology of the species being cared for as this is particularly important for the successful 
treatment and rehabilitation of protected animals. 
  
Given all the above it would be unlikely that any wildlife AWEs, if they have a non-euthanasia 
policy, would be able to satisfy the welfare requirements of permanently disabled protected 
animals under the Animal Welfare Act. A large percentage of wildlife casualties are non-
releasable and permanent captives would put enormous strain on facilities at AWEs, reducing the 
effectiveness of centres to rehabilitate those wildlife casualties that have a chance of being 
released and potentially compromising the welfare of releasable and non-releasable animals. 
 

Single hoglet being hand fed at Stapeley, UK. © Joe Murphy/RSPCA Single hoglet being hand fed at Stapeley, UK. © Joe Murphy/RSPCA

Pack Page 122



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

23

Policy documents should include: 

Compulsory requirements:

•	 Record keeping - must be put in place to cover any key areas of animal welfare, to include, 	
	 as a minimum, the receipt and disposal of animals, any veterinary care and the feeding and 	
	 care regime for each animal (refer to compulsory wildlife recording 5.5 be low);
•	 Euthanasia – under what circumstances a decision to euthanase would be made and ability 	
	 to enact;
•	 Vet checks/vaccinations – nominated veterinary surgeon and ability to provide;
•	 Breeding from animals in care – reasons;
•	 Hygiene/disease control;
•	 Staff and volunteer training/competency: a) the establishment licence holder is responsible 	
	 for ensuring that they, or a responsible member of staff at a managerial or supervisory 		
	 level, have adequate knowledge and skills to implement legislative requirements  and to 		
	 ensure the well-being of animals in their care; b) where existing skills and knowledge are 		
	 not demonstrable, completion of a programme of training from an accredited education 		
	 provider should be attained by the licensee and/or responsible member of staff;
•	 Number and type of animals able to be accommodated and where. If wild animals are to 		
	 be taken in, how each species will be housed etc.

Non-compulsory requirements to provide guidance on best practice:

•	 Public access/display (not appropriate for wild animals);
•	 Ownership – such as “signing over” animals when they are taken in;
•	 Rehoming;
•	 Fostering arrangements – for organisations that utilise a network of fosters or multiple small 	
	 sites, they would need to register as a single organisation and provide robust policies to 
	 cover this and enact a level of self-regulation to ensure their fosterers standards where 		
	 maintained;
•	 Release protocols for wildlife;
•	 Neutering and microchipping where appropriate.

Pack Page 123



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

24

  “Because wild animals are perceived as not  
having owners, members of the public believe  
they can “have a go”, attempting great feats of  
orthopaedic surgery on animals with open  
fractures and broken spines, with bandages  
and lolly pop sticks.”	           		  Gower Bird Hospital

4.8	 The question of wildlife

Wild animal rehabilitation is a specialised area of animal welfare with many different needs, facilities and 
outcomes than for companion or farm animals. There are risks to human safety as well as separate and
additional legislation governing protected wild animals. Consideration must be given to the number of 
different species admitted, types of housing available, rehabilitation methods and provision for monitoring 
success rates, as well as the potential to spread disease to other protected or domestic animals, livestock or 
people. Record keeping for compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981) is compulsory for those 
species listed on Schedule 4 of this Act, however for most other species it is the responsibility of the keeper  
to demonstrate the provenance of the animals in their care. Such records should be kept in all centres  
treating wildlife and this should be a requirement of any new legislation. Animal welfare for wild animals is 
poorly understood, wild bred animals have a natural fear response to people and can exhibit high levels of 
stress behaviour in captivity. Furthermore, these animals are not pets and should not be treated as such.

Wildlife rehabilitation centres admit many different species of wildlife, requiring different housing, handling and 
treatment protocols. They must be able to demonstrate knowledge of the biology and ecology of the species 
being cared for as this is particularly important for the successful treatment and rehabilitation of protected 
animals.
 
Given all the above it would be unlikely that any wildlife AWEs, if they have a non-euthanasia policy, would be 
able to satisfy the welfare requirements of permanently disabled protected animals under the Animal Welfare 
Act. A large percentage of wildlife casualties are non-releasable and permanent captives would put enormous 
strain on facilities at AWEs, reducing the effectiveness of centres to rehabilitate those wildlife casualties that 
have a chance of being released and potentially compromising the welfare of releasable and non-releasable 
animals.Therefore a pragmatic euthanasia policy for non-releasable animals is essential.

If wildlife AWEs are already established and visible through advertising or through agreements with the RSPCA 
and other organisations, the effect of any regulation would appear to be small due to the limited number of 
wildlife rehabilitation facilities in Wales and their specialist role. There is however perhaps an unknown 
number of individuals and organisations that hold themselves out to receive wildlife casualties from the public 
and private veterinary practices across Wales.

Pack Page 124



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

25

4.9	 Accountability

It was felt by the working group that an organisation or nominated person should be licensed under any 
regulation scheme which required it, rather than licensing a physical address. The issue of internet based 
animal welfare organisations should also be considered in any future regulation, as these are increasing in 
number in recent years, making knowledge of physical addresses and visibility harder to achieve.

The question of accountability in regards to other individuals within AWEs or their organisations should also be 
considered. These other individuals include: fosterers (approved/inspected/informal), veterinary surgeons and 
surgeries, boarding establishments, satellite sites and satellite organisations. 

Any regulation to cover these individuals would need to be proportionate. For example, if an AWE utilises a 
network of fosterers or multiple small sites, they would need to register as a single organisation and provide 
robust policies to cover their arrangements and enact a level of internal regulation to ensure their fosterers’ 
standards were maintained. We do not want a situation where each individual fosterer needs licensing. 
However, in the interests of transparency comprehensive records of fosterers and animals cared for should be 
kept by each AWE.

4.10	  Veterinary surgeons

Veterinary surgeons play an important role in the effective management of an AWE, and could also 
contribute to the visibility of these organisations under a regulation scheme.

A nominated veterinary surgeon with the necessary expertise relevant to that organisation and the animals 
being kept by them should also be recorded as part of the policy documents detailed in section 4.3 above. 

4.11	 Inspections

An annual or risk-based inspection should be a central element of any licensing scheme, which would also 
allow for a cost recovery element. It could be difficult to justify inspections for licensing if the process was not 
mandatory, so mandatory inspections with a right of entry for Inspectors included in the regulations would be 
preferable28.

Although it was generally accepted by the working group that local authorities are in the best position to 
enforce any new regulations and conduct inspections in this area, there is some concern that they are already 
overstretched financially and in terms of resources.  However, this role could easily integrate into the current 
local authority responsibilities for animal welfare legislation providing the costs are fully recoverable. 

28 In the Welsh Government’s draft Animal Welfare (Breeding of Dogs) (Wales) Regulations 2012, Powers of Entry are addressed in section 21 as ‘Breach of a licence 
condition must be treated as a relevant offence for the purpose of section 23 of the Act (entry and search under warrant in connection with offences)’.Pack Page 125



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

26

There was also concern that Inspectors would not necessarily have sufficient expertise to inspect certain 
specialist AWEs such as wildlife rehabilitation centres. The use of a vet would not always resolve this problem 
due to the specialist nature of some disciplines, but it has been suggested by most responders to this inquiry 
that veterinary input would be necessary. It was also suggested that difficulties could be overcome by 
providing contact details for a panel of experts who would be available to support the inspecting officer. 
Possible experts could include veterinary surgeons and individuals from established AWEs or, in the case of 
wildlife rehabilitation centres, individuals from wildlife establishments used by the RSPCA in the local 
authority’s area.

Extra animal welfare training could also be provided for Inspectors throughout Wales by organisations such 
as the RSPCA, British Horse Society, Donkey Sanctuary and others. This training would also be of benefit to 
other areas of the Inspector’s animal welfare role.

Inspections should not use a similar format to current dog boarding licensing procedures where inspections 
are prearranged with the management of the facility once a year. Unannounced inspections would allow the 
Inspector to see the establishment in its normal working condition.

Inspections should be risk-based where risk is related to the condition of the establishment, its management and 
the size of the establishment.  Licences could run for up to three years with the frequency of inspection set at 
a minimum of annual but as frequently as considered necessary for high risk establishments.  There should be 
some financial implication for those high risk establishments, for example by charging for any additional 
inspections required on a cost neutral basis.

It would be preferable to have standardised local inspection protocols to ensure consistency and fairness. This 
could be achieved by ensuring minimum standards are contained within the legislation and also in a similar 
way to other legislative enforcement, through training for enforcement officers, Welsh Government additional 
guidance and the use of existing local authority liaison arrangements.29 

There have been suggestions that the current Zoo Licensing Act (1981) could cover AWEs open to the public, 
but these organisations are in many cases unlikely to apply for a Zoo Licence either because they fall outside 
the legal definition, or because their motivations for running an animal welfare establishment mean that they 
do not want to be classed as a zoo. Any establishment granted a licence under the sanctuaries inspection 
scheme should be specifically exempt from the Zoo Licensing Act, unless they fall under the definition of a zoo 
as defined in the legislation.30 

Access to AWEs in order to carry out an inspection is an important issue which will determine the 
effectiveness of any regulation. Right of entry for proactive and reactive inspections and other regulatory 
intervention visits are therefore a crucial aspect of this system.

29 As a point of reference or example of standards currently in use, the RSPCA’s site inspection standards can be found in Appendix D.
30 Definition of a zoo: A zoo is an establishment that displays wild animals to the public for more than 7 days in any one 12 month period, as defined by the Zoo  
Licensing Act (1981). Zoos are required to be licensed by local authorities after the receipt of a satisfactory report on the establishment by a vet appointed by Defra. 
The definition of a wild animal as given in section 27 of this Act is any animal not normally domesticated in Great Britain. This has been clarified in a subsequent Defra 
circular an extract of which can be found in Appendix E at the end of this report.Pack Page 126



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

27

There is currently a toolkit available to local authorities when standards slip, which has already been included 
in the Animal Welfare Act (2006). It was felt by the working group that it would therefore be advisable to also 
adopt the penalties outlined in the Act, namely the issuing of improvement notices and finally, seizure. The 
group would advise that any regulation should state that it would be an offence not to comply with an 
improvement notice issued under the regulation, which is not currently the case under the Animal Welfare Act 
(2006). It is imperative that the improvement notice is constrained by a time period. This differing requirement 
could be justified by the expectation of a higher degree of compliance with the Animal Welfare Act from an 
AWE, whose direct function is that of animal welfare and where expertise should have been developed to a 
higher standard, than those of private animal keepers.

The working group would like to add that if the Animal Welfare Act could be amended to allow enforcement 
notice compliance to be compulsory, such as in Scotland, this would strengthen the position of this regulation 
and add extra weight to Local Authorities enforcing it. It would also allow robust enforcement without removing 
the AWEs licence, which would potentially close those premises.

4.12	 Compliance and penalties

Compliance with any regulation could be enforced by giving Inspectors the ability to amend the numbers of 
animals and the types of species licensed at a particular AWE overall. This would mean that if problems were 
to arise, the ability of the AWE to take in any new animals could be halted by the Inspector in a probationary 
capacity until any problems were resolved.

The working group wants to reinforce that it does not want a system of regulation that would remove a licence 
for non-compliance, as this would lead to a situation where the AWE in question was no longer able to be 
inspected because the authorities would no longer be able to gain access without a warrant.

4.13	 Costs and charges

Options are either cost-neutral or cost-recovery through a licence/registration fee, or Government funding 
however, it should be noted that we would not want this option to harm the ability to introduce regulation and 
feel that a cost neutral cost recovery system through a fee is a viable alternative.

Fee structures should be set by the Welsh Government and not left to the discretion of the local authorities, 
on the condition that they are on a true cost recovery basis. This must be equivalent to costs and not confer 
undue profit. Fees should be proportionate so as not to unfairly burden smaller organisations.

The concern that smaller organisations could not afford a licence fee even if means-tested and, subsidised by 
the larger establishments’ fees can be justified by the concern that an establishment running without sufficient 
funds would also have limited ability to provide for animals in their care and should be encouraged to cease 
operating.

Pack Page 127



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

28

SECTION 5: CONCLUSION 
After thorough examination of the issues involved, a summary of the recommendations contained in this report 
include:

•	 AWEs provide a range of essential services for animal welfare in the community;
•	 Hoarding is a distinct and separate issue to the regulation of AWEs and can be dealt with under 	 	
	 the Animal Welfare Act (2006);
•	 Compulsory regulation of AWEs is recommended in the form of secondary regulation brought 	 	
	 under the Animal Welfare Act (2006);
•	 Compulsory registration of AWE details would be an integral part of any regulations;
•	 Data collection should be prioritised as an important resource for information and visibility of 	 	
	 organisations operating as AWEs;
•	 Animal welfare policy documents should be a requirement of organisations under any regulation. 	 	
	 These should include both compulsory and recommended requirements. Those establishments 		
	 not able to prove that their policies comply with the Animal Welfare Act should be denied a 	 	
	 licence and either encouraged to reach the standards required within a specified time period or 
	 to close;
•	 The unique challenges and specialties of wildlife rehabilitation should be specifically addressed 	 	
	 in any regulations;
•	 A nominated individual should hold responsibility for an organisation, but with reference to 	 	
	 other individuals who may also carry varying levels of responsibility (i.e. fosters);
•	 Each AWE should have a nominated vet with knowledge of their operations;
•	 A Local Authority administered mandatory risk-based inspection to involve veterinary presence 	 	
	 should be a central element of any registration scheme, considered on an annual basis, which 	 	
	 would also contribute to cost recovery;
•	 Compliance should be addressed by the current Animal Welfare Act toolkit, Improvement Notices, 	
	 amendments to the numbers of animals licensed for an AWE to keep or instructions to carry out 		
         specified works to meet the legal minimum standards, rather than removal of licenses that could 	 	
	 lead to problems of access;
•	 Proportionate fees should be set by the Welsh Government on a self-funding cost-neutral/cost 	 	
	 recovery basis.

In conclusion, the AWNW AWE working group strongly recommends that regulation of AWEs be introduced 
in Wales. This sentiment was also reflected by a majority of those organisations who submitted evidence to 
this enquiry, and so should be seen as a relatively uncontroversial move from within the sector and the wider 
public.

Pack Page 128



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

29

APPENDIX A: THE ROLE OF AWNW 

The Animal Welfare Network for Wales (AWNW) is an independent initiative set up to bring together all 
organisations with volunteers who work within the animal welfare world in Wales. Currently there are 146 
member organisations (including animal welfare organisations and other NGOs, vets, local authorities) that 
make up the Network, which is a large representative section of the sector.

It should also be pointed out that AWNW is already functioning as a facilitation group for the animal welfare 
sector, representing many AWEs who would be affected by any future regulation. Therefore the AWNW is in a 
position to facilitate forums, networking and joint working with local authorities, Government etc. in the context 
of regulation of AWEs. AWNW does in fact already have a working relationship with the proposed enforcers 
and parties outlined in this report. The AWNW’s existence could also help to mitigate any possible negative 
effects on the sector. 

The aim of the Network is to facilitate affective communication between all animal welfare organisations who 
work in Wales at a crucial time for the sector – March 2011 saw animal welfare devolved to Wales as a whole 
sector31, The Welsh Government has a Compact with the Voluntary Sector, which provides for a seat on animal 
welfare issues on the Third Sector Partnership Council (TSPC). The RSPCA holds that seat as a representative 
of AWNW, to facilitate information across all interested groups in Wales.

The Network provides a number of services for its members – from information facilitation of political 
developments related to animal welfare, to networking events and topic lead seminars. The Network was also 
involved in the former Welsh Government administered the Companion Animal Welfare Enhancement Scheme 
(CAWES) which allowed its members access to meetings with local authorities on companion animal welfare 
issues and be involved in special projects run by the councils.

Following the conclusion of CAWES on the 31st of March 2011, AWNW, the Welsh Government, local 
authority representatives and the WLGA (Welsh Local Government Association) ran a successor scheme 
which operated without funding. This scheme only covered four meetings throughout Wales for the discussion  
of companion animal matters between the Welsh Government, local authorities, AWNW members and others 
with an interest in animal welfare. The Welsh Government provided the chair and venues for these meetings, 
whilst the AWNW provided the secreteriat. The Network is in discussions about this scheme’s future.

More details about the AWNW work can be found on the AWNW website at www.awnwales.org

31 Exceptions being hunting and animal experiments Pack Page 129



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

30

 

30 

 

APPENDIX B: CALL FOR EVIDENCE LETTER AND FORM 
 

 

Pack Page 130



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

31

 

31 

 

 

Pack Page 131



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

32

 

32 

 

 
 

Pack Page 132



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

33

APPENDIX C: EVIDENCE

Transcripts of written evidence can be accessed at:	 http://www.awnwales.org/AWEwritten
Transcripts of oral evidence can be accessed at:	 http://www.awnwales.org/AWEoral

APPENDIX D: RSPCA INSPECTION STANDARDS

A full copy of the Licensing Conditions for all RSPCA Animal Centres (December 2009) can be found at: 
www.politicalanimal.org.uk/RSPCA/Licensing Conditions.pdf

A copy of the standards for non-RSPCA centres for wildlife can be found at:
www.rspca.org.uk/allaboutanimals/wildlife/rehabilitation/standards

 

34 

 

APPENDIX D: RSPCA INSPECTION STANDARDS 
 
A full copy of the Licensing Conditions for all RSPCA Animal Centres (December 2009) can be 
found at: www.politicalanimal.org.uk/RSPCA/Licensing Conditions.pdf 
 
A copy of the standards for non-RSPCA centres for wildlife can be found at: 
www.rspca.org.uk/allaboutanimals/wildlife/rehabilitation/standards 
 

 

Pack Page 133



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

APPENDIX E: DEFRA CIRCULAR 02/2003 – ZOO LICENSING ACT 1981, ANNEX E 

Animals considered normally domesticated or not normally domesticated for the purposes of the Zoo 
licensing Act 1981. The Secretary of State is not in a position to give an authoritative statement on which 
animals fall into the ‘normally non-domestic’ and ‘normally domestic’ categories as interpretation of 
legislation is a matter for the Courts. However, an informal view on the more common cases that have 
caused uncertainty is set out below.

To explain the thinking, the two categories have been sub-divided into the following five subcategories. 
Species not in categories 1 to 4 will almost certainly be in 5. Hybrid species should be treated as not 
normally domesticated if one of the parents is from sub-categories 3 to 5. Where there is doubt about a 
species, local authorities, Inspectors or operators may check with Defra who may seek views through the 
Zoos Forum.

34

Species normally domesticated 
in Great Britain and therefore not 
“wild animals” for the purposes of 
the ZLA.

Species not normally domesticated in Great Britain 
and therefore to be considered “wild animals” for the 
purposes of the ZLA.

1. True domestic 
breeds of species 
that have been  
kept in this country 
for so long, and in 
such large numbers, 
that their status  
as “normally  
domesticated in 
Great Britain” is 
clearly justified  
(exotic domestic 
breeds of the same 
species as those 
listed here are  
included, eg.  
Vietnamese  
potbellied pigs).

Examples:
horses/ponies,  
donkeys, cattle, 
sheep, goats, pigs, 
dogs, cats, ferrets, 
rabbits, pigeons/
doves, chickens, 
turkeys, ducks, 
geese.	

2. True domestic 
breeds, and  
selectively bred 
wild species, 
introduced to this 
country relatively 
recently, but now 
so commonly kept 
outside zoological 
collections as to 
justify regarding 
them as “normally 
domesticated in 
Great Britain”.

Examples:
guinea pigs,  
hamsters, gerbils, 
rats, mice,  
chinchillas,  
budgerigars,  
canaries, guinea 
fowl, peafowl, 
goldfish, koi carp, 
golden orfe.

3. True domestic
breeds of species
introduced to this
country relatively
recently, and kept  
in relatively low
numbers, and that
therefore should  
be regarded as  
“not normally  
domesticated
in Great Britain” 
(exotic domestic 
breeds of species in 
list 1. Are included 
in that list).

Examples:
llamas, alpacas,
camels, water 
buffalo,Ankole  
cattle, yak,  
reindeer.

4. Wild species,
commercially 
farmed or widely 
bred by hobbyists 
(including some 
species which
have been  
selectively bred 
and therefore may 
be considered
domestic), but 
where this is so 
recent as to render 
the species  
“not normally  
domesticated in 
Great Britain”

Examples:
deer, ostriches,  
wild boar, American 
bison, aquarium 
and pond fish  
(excluding those
in 2.), cage and  
aviary birds  
(excluding those 
in 2.), waterfowl 
(excluding those 
in 1.), giant African 
land snails.

5. True wild  
species, where  
domesticity is  
not seriously  
suggested.

Examples:
All species not  
listed

Pack Page 134



The case for the regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
A report produced by the AWNW Animal Welfare Establishments ‘Sanctuaries’ Working Group

35Pack Page 135



AWNW | 10 Ty Nant Court | Cardiff CF15 8LW
www.awnwales.org | 0300 123 8914

Pack Page 136



P-04-500 Call For Regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales – 

Correspondence from the Petitioner to the Committee, 21.05.14.  

Hi Kayleigh, 

I agree with the RSPCA as this report is what I am calling on the Assembly to 

implement, as it is much needed. 

 Yours 

 Lisa Winnett 

Pack Page 137



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 138

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2.1 P-04-557 Valuation Tribunal Service
	3.1 P-04-526 Please make Senedd TV accessible to deaf people
	20.05.2014 Correspondence -  Presiding Officer to the Chair
	28.05.2014 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Committee

	3.2 P-04-319 Newtown traffic petition
	14.05.2014 Correspondence -  Minister for Economy, Science and Transport  to the Chair

	3.3 P-03-315 New Dyfi River Crossing Petition
	31.03.2014 Correspondence -  Minister for Economy, Science and Transport to the Chair
	27.05.2014 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Clerking Team

	3.4 P-04-487 A Welsh Government deposit loan scheme for first time Welsh home buyers
	29.04.2014  Correspondence - Minister for Housing and Regeneration to the Chair
	25.05.2014 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Clerking Team

	3.5 P-04-536 Stop Factory Dairy Farming in Wales
	01.05.2014 Correspondence -  Minister for Housing and Regeneration to the Chair

	3.6 P-04-447 Campaign for Statue of Henry VII in Pembroke
	Research Brief

	3.7 P-04-539 Save Cardiff Coal Exchange
	07.05.14 Correspondence - Leader of the City of Cardiff Council to the Chair

	3.8 P-04-436 Government Expenditure and Revenue Wales
	02.03.2014 Correspondence - Minister for Finance to Chair
	22.05.14 Correspondence -  Petitioner to the Clerking Team

	3.9 P-04-437 Opposing compulsory registration for home educating children
	3.10 P-04-517 Stop the Welsh Assembly Government from bringing in the monitoring of electively home educated children under the guise
	06.05.2014 Written Statement by the Minister for Education and Skills

	3.11 P-04-448 Improve Sexual health services for Western Vale
	3.12 P-04-449 Bridgend Princess Of Wales - Save Our Services - Stop the Downgrade!
	25.05.14 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Clerking Team

	3.13 P-04-456 Dementia - This Could Happen to you
	12.05.14 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Committee
	20.05.14 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Committee
	09.05.14 Correspondence - Email Exchange

	3.14 P-04-502 Wellbeing Centre for Wales
	21.10.2013 Correspondence -  Minister for Health and Social Services to the Chair
	08.05.2014 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Clerking Team

	3.15 P-04-530 Bilingual Labeling
	04.05.2014 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Committee

	3.16 P-04-500 Call For Regulation of Animal Welfare Establishments in Wales
	14.04.14 Correspondence - RSPCA to Committee
	21.05.14 Correspondence - Petitioner to the Clerking Team
	Legal Briefing


